



MINNESOTA HIGHER EDUCATION COORDINATING BOARD

MINNESOTA HIGHER EDUCATION COORDINATING BOARD

MEMBERS

Alice Keller, Winona, First Congressional District Maureen Johnson-Stores, Marshall, Second Congressional District Robert Ferguson, Eagan, Third Congressional District Thomas Auth, North St. Paul, Fourth Congressional District Mona Hintzman, Brooklyn Center, Fifth Congressional District Celeste O'Donnell, St. Paul, Sixth Congressional District Andy Hilger, St. Cloud, Seventh Congressional District Peter X. Fugina, Virginia, Eighth Congressional District Charles Neerland, Minneapolis, At-Large Duane C. Scribner, Minneapolis, At-Large Andrea Schmidt, Red Wing, At-Large

STUDY OF POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION COSTS

December 8, 1988

MINNESOTA HIGHER EDUCATION COORDINATING BOARD

SUITE 400 CAPITOL SQUARE 550 CEDAR STREET SAINT PAUL 55101

(612) 296-3974

MEMORANDUM

то:

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE

them M. Le

FROM: KATHLEEN M. KIES, ACTING EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

SUBJECT: STUDY OF PUBLIC POST-SECONDARY COSTS

DATE: DECEMBER 8, 1988

The Coordinating Board's 1987-90 Management Plan included a study of post-secondary costs in public institutions. It is one of several studies on aspects of state financing for post-secondary education. This study addresses trends in costs and tuition rates and cost containment. The Average Cost Funding Task Force is currently addressing the issue of adequate funding for the public systems.

BACKGROUND

Several factors suggested the need for a study of instructional costs in Minnesota's public post-secondary systems. Both nationally and in Minnesota tuition and fee rates increased faster than the rate of inflation between 1971 and 1987. U. S. public post-secondary institutions' costs of instruction increased at a rate that was higher than that of the Consumer Price Index (CPI) between 1977 and 1986. The public perceives the cost of attending a post-secondary institution to be much higher than it is. Finally, Minnesota's ability to finance substantial increases in spending for public post-secondary education is uncertain. Since the costs of instruction in private institutions do not relate directly to state financing issues, they were not addressed in the study.

STUDY OBJECTIVES

The study of public post-secondary costs has four objectives:

- o To describe the influences on post-secondary costs and tuition rates.
- o To document the recent trends in Minnesota public postsecondary institutions' costs and tuition rates and to compare the trends to those of other public institutions in the United States.
- o To explore the reasons for the recent trends in tuition and cost.
- o To identify strategies that currently do or potentially could contain growth in costs and tuition rates.

The attached staff paper, <u>Study of Post-Secondary Education Costs</u>, reviews the influences on costs and tuition rates, recent trends in costs and tuition rates, and strategies for containing growth in costs and tuition rates.

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

The analysis in the paper found that post-secondary costs in the Minnesota public systems have decreased in constant dollars, but that tuition rates and financial aid awards have risen substantially in constant dollars. Several reasons for the trends are discussed. The impacts of the trends on the quality and amount of instructional and support services were not assessed. The primary findings and conclusions include the following:

Cost Trends

- Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems decreased between 1978 and 1983. The decreases were due primarily to state funding policies, the state's fiscal crises, and double digit inflation.
- Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems returned to 1978 levels by 1986. The increases appear to have been the result of a change in state financing policies and stable or declining enrollments.
- Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems decreased in three systems after 1986. The decreases since 1986 apparently were caused by enrollment increases and the two year lag in the funding policy.

Tuition and Fee Trends

- Tuition rates in all four Minnesota public systems rose moderately in constant dollars between 1978 and 1983. The moderate increases were due to the state's fiscal crises.
- Tuition rates in all four systems rose substantially in constant dollars between 1983 and 1986. The substantial increases were the result of the new state tuition policy.
- Tuition rates in the public systems rose more slowly between 1986 and 1989 than during earlier periods and the increases varied by system and level of instruction. Variations in tuition rate changes between 1986 and 1989 were the result of enrollment increases, system tuition policies, and a change in state tuition policy for the Technical Institute System.

> Undergraduate financial aid rose much more rapidly in constant dollars than enrollments between 1980 and 1988. These increases reflected the redesign of the State Scholarship and Grant Program and the significant funding increase that were implemented in 1984 and 1985.

RECOMMENDATIONS

In light of the findings and review of strategies in the report and discussion with the Higher Education Advisory Council and other members of the post-secondary education community, I RECOMMEND THAT:

1. Minnesota retain its current mix of strategies for containing growth in post-secondary costs and tuition rates.

Rationale: The study found that post-secondary institutions' costs of providing instruction have decreased. Although tuition rates have increased significantly since the 1983 adoption of state financing policies, the rate of increase has slowed since 1986, and state and federal funding for financial aid has increased significantly. The review of cost containment strategies identified four broad strategies that could be used to contain growth in post-secondary costs and tuition rates. They include central planning and coordination, regulatory strategies, market strategies, and incentive strategies. Minnesota has a program or mechanism in place that uses each of the strategies identified. The Coordinating Board's program review and budget review responsibilities are examples of the central planning and coordinating strategy. The Board, however, does not currently exercise its review authority in the state's biennial budget process. The fiscal limitations contained in the state's average cost funding policy, an example of the regulatory approach, are probably the state's most effective method of influencing costs and tuition rates. The state's financial aid and tuition policies are examples of the market strategy. The incentive strategy of containing costs is embodied in the provision allowing systems to retain funds that remain unexpended at the end of each fiscal year. In light of recent trends in costs and tuition rates, there does not appear to be a need for exercising the Board's budget review authority or other cost containment strategies at present.

Impact: Since this recommendation reaffirms current practice, there are no impacts.

2. The Coordinating Board continue to monitor trends in costs of instruction and tuition rates.

Rationale: The study does not suggest the need for additional cost containment strategies. System requests for increased spending and the conflicting pressure to restrain levels of state spending and tuition rates, however, do

> suggest the need for monitoring of trends in costs and tuition rates. The study also illustrated the fluctuations that occur in costs and tuition rates. Consequently, the Coordinating Board should continue its current practice of reporting data on trends in post-secondary costs and tuition and required fee rates in its biennial report to the governor and legislature. Should the monitoring trends in costs and tuition rates suggest a need for further cost containment measures, the Board could consider implementation of budget review.

Impact: Since this recommendation reaffirms current practice, there are no impacts.

3.

The Coordinating Board consider an evaluation of the state's finance and governance policies for post-secondary education as it develops its next management plan.

<u>Rationale</u>: Minnesota adopted a set of financing policies for post-secondary education in 1983. The policies included average cost funding, cost related tuition, the design for shared responsibility in financial aid, expanded system governance authority, and revised tuition reciprocity agreements. The policies were intended to promote four of the state's goals for post-secondary education. The four goals include:

- o Preservation and enhancement of the quality of instructional programs;
- o Efficient use of resources in the provision of instructional programs;
- o Equity in the provision of state support for the public post-secondary systems; and
- o Access to post-secondary education.

The interactions of the tuition and financial aid policies were assessed in two studies conducted in 1985. One study was prepared by University of Minnesota faculty and staff with the financial support of the Coordinating Board. The other study was part of the Coordinating Board's Report to the Governor and 1985 Legislature. The effectiveness of the set of finance and governance policies in promoting accomplishment of the state's goals, however, has not been evaluated. In addition, many concerns have been raised by members of the post-secondary education community in Minne-sota regarding the impacts of the policies. Many changes have occurred in post-secondary education in the six years since adoption of the policies. Participation rates have changed as have the types of students enrolled. Increased support for economic development is expected of institutions, and there is an increased emphasis on the quality of instruction. All these factors suggest that an evaluation of the policies is appropriate.

> <u>Impact</u>: An evaluation of the state's financing policies for post-secondary education could require a significant commitment of resources. The decision regarding whether to conduct an evaluation and the extent of that evaluation should be made in the context of the Board's Management Plan process. In this way, all potential projects can be considered and priorities established.

This report and the recommendations will be discussed at the December 15 Committee of the Whole meeting. No action on the recommendations is requested until the January Board meeting.

Attachment

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

INTRODUCTION

Post-secondary institutions' costs of providing instruction have come under close scrutiny in recent years. Concern regarding rapid increases in tuition rates has become widespread. Increases in the cost of providing instruction are commonly viewed as one of the primary causes of tuition increases. This view has led to calls for measures that would contain post-secondary costs. The study of post-secondary education costs is designed to address this issue for the Minnesota public post-secondary systems. Since the costs of instruction in private institutions do not relate directly to state financing issues, they are not addressed in the study.

The study of public post-secondary costs has four objectives:

- o To describe the influences on post-secondary costs and tuition rates.
- To document the recent trends in Minnesota public postsecondary institutions' costs and tuition rates and to compare the trends to those of other public institutions in the United States.
- o To explore the reasons for the recent trends in tuition and cost.
- To identify strategies that currently do or potentially could contain growth in costs and tuition rates.

BACKGROUND

The terms cost and tuition are used to refer to two different concepts in this study. Cost is used to refer to institutional expenditures while tuition refers to the price students pay for instruction. The term cost of instruction is defined for this study as the expenditures incurred by a post-secondary institution to provide instruction. The cost of instruction includes both a portion of operating and a portion of capital expenditures. The operating cost of instruction includes ooth the direct expenditures for instruction and the indirect expendedures attributable to instruction. The capital cost of instruction is the portion of debt service payments for capital expenditures that is related to the provision of instruction.

The costs of instruction are important in Minnesota's financing policies for the public post-secondary systems. The operating cost of instruction directly influences levels of tuition revenue and state appropriations to the systems. The capital cost of instruction for the public post-secondary education systems is financed primarily by the state, and, in some instances, by school districts that operate technical institutes.

TRENDS IN COSTS AND TUITION RATES

Two objectives of this study were to examine recent trends in post-secondary institutions' operating cost of instruction, tuition rates, and financial aid and to explain the reasons for the observed trends. The analysis found that post-secondary costs in the Minnesota public systems have decreased in constant dollars, but that tuition rates and financial aid awards have risen substantially in constant dollars. Several reasons for the trends were discussed. The impacts of the trends on the quality and amount of instructional and support services were not assessed. Specific findings and conclusions regarding cost and tuition trends included the following:

- ii -

Cost Trends

- The prices of goods and services purchased by post-secondary institutions grew much faster than prices in the U.S. economy and slightly faster than the prices of consumer goods and services between 1978 and 1989.
- Minnesota per capita personal income grew more rapidly than the consumer and higher education prices between 1978 and 1989.
- o Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems decreased between 1978 and 1983. The decreases were due primarily to state funding policies, the state's fiscal crises, and double digit inflation.
- Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems returned to 1978 levels by 1986. The increases appear to have been the result of a change in state financing policies and stable or declining enrollments.
- Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems decreased in three systems after 1986. The decreases since 1986 apparently were caused by enrollment increases and the two year lag in the funding policy.
- o Minnesota public institutions generally had larger decreases in constant dollar expenditures per student than similar non-Minnesota institutions between 1978 and 1983. The larger decreases in Minnesota were probably due to the more severe effect of the recession on the state and a state funding policy that did not provide substantial additional state appropriations for enrollment growth.
- Expenditures for support programs including academic support, student services, institutional support, and physical plant operations, have constituted an increasing proportion of the operating cost of instruction in the State University System and Community College System.
- o A national study found that post-secondary student services and institutional support costs rose more rapidly than educational and general costs. The provision of more and better services, the use of more sophisticated and specialized management and finance staff, and compliance with increased government requirements were reasons suggested to explain the increases.
- Debt service for the public systems constitutes a substantial proportion of the state's support for post-secondary education. Capital costs may increase more rapidly in the future as a result of deferred maintenance.

Tuition and Fee Trends

- o Tuition increases in all four public systems between 1971 and 1989 exceeded increases in Minnesota per capita personal income.
- Tuition rates i all four Minnesota public systems rose moderately in c istant dollars between 1978 and 1983. The moderate increases were due to the state's fiscal crises.
- Tuition rates in all four systems rose substantially in constant dollars between 1983 and 1986. The substantial increases were the result of the new state tuition policy.
- o Tuition rates in the public systems rose more slowly between 1986 and 1989 than during earlier periods and the increases varied by system and level of instruction. Variations in tuition rate changes between 1986 and 1989 were the result of enrollment increases, system tuition policies, and a change in state tuition policy for the Technical Institute System.
- o Required fee rates in the Minnesota public post-secondary systems remained stable or decreased in constant dollars between 1978 and 1989. The decreases suggested that expenditures for student activities have risen more slowly than consumer prices.
- o Minnesota public institutions had much larger increases than similar non-Minnesota institutions in constant dollar tuition and fee rates between 1982 and 1985. The larger increases in Minnesota institutions reflected the more severe impact of the recession on Minnesota and Minnesota's substantial increase in reliance on tuition revenue relative to other states.
- Undergraduate financial aid rose much more rapidly in constant dollars than enrollments between 1980 and 1988. These increases reflected the redesign of the State Scholarship and Grant Program and the significant funding increase that were implemented in 1984 and 1985.
- o Constant dollar total awards in state scholarship and grant programs, both in Minnesota and in the United States, decreased between 1979 and 1983. The decreases were likely the result f rapid inflation and the economic recession.
- o Constant d lar total awards in state scale arship and grant programs, the in Minnesota and in the United States, increased between 1983 and 1988. The increases were apparently due to state financial aid policy changes and significant funding increases in some state programs.

STRATEGIES FOR CONTAINING COSTS AND TUITION RATES

The analysis in this study found that per student costs in three of the Minnesota public post-secondary systems are decreasing, and, while tuition rates grew rapidly from 1978 to 1986, increased state and federal financial aid helped offset those increases and the rate of increase in tuition has slowed since 1986. These trends do not suggest the need for additional state measures to contain growth in costs and tuition rates.

Several factors do, however, suggest the need for a review of strategies that are or could be used to contain growth in costs and tuition rates. Continued upward pressure on costs is reasonably certain. All four public systems are requesting increases in their base spending levels. Meanwhile, there is continued pressure to restrain increases in state spending and tuition. Efforts to raise taxes meet with resistance. System and student representatives argue against significant tuition rate increases. Minnesota's current level of support for public post-secondary education, relative to its available resources, ranks above the national average. The state's level of support on a per student basis, however, is equal to the national average and has decreased in the last ten years. These conflicting trends suggest that additional state revenue may not be sufficient to finance desired spending increases.

Cost containment may be one way to provide expanded and/or improved post-secondary education services if sufficient additional revenues are not available. Three broad strategies from the health care experience suggest approaches to post-secondary

- V -

education cost containment. They include coordination and planning, regulatory strategies, and market strategies. A fourth strategy is the use of incentives to encourage cost containment efforts.

Minnesota has a program or mechanism in place that uses each of the four strategies. The Coordinating Board's program review process currently serves as a planning and coordination strategy and its budget review process could serve a similar purpose. The fiscal limitations that are part of the state's financing policy for the public post-secondary systems, a regulatory strategy, is probably the most effective method available to influence costs and tuition rates. The state's financial aid and tuition policies contain aspects of the market strategy for influencing costs and tuition rates. Finally, the provision that allows systems to retain unexpended funds is an example of the incentive strategy.

- vi -

CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
CONTENTS
TABLESi
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION
ISSUES
itenus in furcion and rees
Trends in Instructional Costs
Public Perception About the Cost of Attendance
Minnesota's Ability to Finance
increases in Spending
STUDY OBJECTIVES
CONTENTS OF THE PAPER
FOUNDIES
CHAPTER II. BACKGROUND
DE LIVIT DI ONG
DEFINITIONS
Expenditures
Current Operating Expenditures
Capital Expanditures
The Cost of Instruction
Operating Cost of Instruction
Capital Cost of Instruction
Revenues
Tuition and Fees 1
Government Appropriations
Other Sources
The Cost of Attendance \bot
THE ROLE OF COSTS IN FINANCING PUBLIC
POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION
The Operating Cost of Tratruction 1
The operating cost of instruction
The Capital Cost of Instruction 1
INFLUENCES ON POST-SECONDARY COSTS
INFILIENCES ON DOST-SECONDARY TUITION RATES 1
FOOTNOTES
CHAPTER III. DATA SOURCES AND METHODS 1
ECONOMIC INDICES 1
POST SECONDARY COSTS
Operating Cost of Instruction 2
operating cost of instruction
Systems' Instructional Expenditure Data 2
HEGIS Instructional Expenditure Data 2
Support Expenditures
outhore extendrences

Systems' Data	• • • • •	•
Capital Cost of Instruction		•
TUITION AND DECUIDED FEE DATES	••••	•
Curtage / Date	• • • •	•
Systems' Data	• • • •	•
Tuition Rates	• • • •	•
Required Fees		•
HEGIS Data		•
Average Tuition Rates	• • • •	•
FINANCIAL AID		•
Coordinating Board Data		•
National Association of State Scholarship and		
Grant Programs		
FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS		
Cost Trends		
Tuition and Fee Trends		
		•
FOUNDIES		•
COST CONTAINMENT DEFINED		•
STRATEGIES FOR CONTAINING COSTS AND TUITION RATES		•
Central Planning and Coordination		•
Planning		•
Program Review		•
Budget Review		•
Regulatory Strategy		•
Fiscal Limitations		•
Peer Reviews		•
Mandated Cost Containment		•
Market Strategy		
Financial Aid		
Cost Related Tuition		
Incentive Strategy		•
		•
		•
		•
APPENDIX A. INFLUENCES ON POST-SECONDARY		
COSTS AND TUITION RATES		
		-

TABLES

COMPANY.

Comments.

TABLE	1.	AVERAGE PERCENT CHANGE AND CUMULATIVE CHANGE, HIGHER EDUCATION PRICE INDEX, CONSUMER PRICE INDEX, GROSS NATIONAL PRODUCT IMPLICIT DEFLATOR, AND MINNESOTA PER CAPITA PERSONAL INCOME, FISCAL YEARS 1979-1989	20
TABLE	2.	AVERAGE INSTRUCTIONAL EXPENDITURES PER FULL YEAR EQUIVALENT STUDENT, IN CURRENT AND CONSTANT DOLLARS FOR MINNESOTA PUBLIC SYSTEMS, FISCAL YEARS 1978, 1983, 1986, AND 1989	23
TABLE	3.	AVERAGE ESTIMATED INSTRUCTIONAL EXPENDITURES PER FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT STUDENT IN CONSTANT DOLLARS, MINNESOTA PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS IN THE UNITED STATES BY INSTITUTIONAL CLASSIFICATION, FISCAL YEARS 1978, 1983, AND 1986	26
TABLE	4.	EDUCATION APPROPRIATIONS AND TUITION REVENUE AND EDUCATION APPROPRIATIONS PER FULL YEAR EQUIVALENT STUDENT IN CONSTANT DOLLARS, MINNESOTA PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS AND UNITED STATES PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS, FISCAL YEARS 1978, 1983, AND 1986	28
TABLE	5.	SUPPORT EXPENDITURES AS A PERCENT OF INSTRUCTIONAL EXPENDITURES AND CHANGE FROM 1978, Fiscal Years 1978, 1983, 1986, and 1989	32
TABLE	6.	STATE DEBT SERVICE AND PERCENT OF OPERATING APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PUBLIC POST SECONDARY EDUCATION SYSTEMS, FISCAL YEAR 1989	34
TABLE	7.	FULL-TIME RESIDENT UNDERGRADUATE, GRADUATE AND PROFESSIONAL TUITION RATES IN CURRENT AND CONSTANT DOLLARS FOR MINNESOTA PUBLIC SYSTEMS, FISCAL YEARS 1971, 1978, 1983, 1986, AND 1989	36
TABLE	8.	FULL-TIME UNDERGRADUATE REQUIRED STUDENT FEES IN CURRENT AND CONSTANT DOLLARS FOR MINNESOTA PUBLIC SYSTEMS, FISCAL YEARS 1978, 1983, 1986, AND 1989	41
TABLE	9.	AVERAGE FULL-TIME RESIDENT UNDERGRADUATE AND GRADUATE TUITION AND REQUIRED FEES IN CONSTANT DOLLARS, MINNESOTA PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS AND OTHER PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS IN THE UNITED STATES BY INSTITUTIONAL CLASSIFICATION, FISCAL YEARS	4.5
		1978, 1982, AND 1985	42

... ...

CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION

Post-secondary institutions' costs of providing instruction have come under close scrutiny in recent years. Concern regarding rapid increases in tuition rates has become widespread. This concern has directed attention toward the causes of the tuition increases. Increases in the cost of providing instruction are commonly viewed as one of the primary causes of tuition increases. This view has led to calls for measures that would contain postsecondary costs. The study of post-secondary education costs is designed to address this issue for the Minnesota public postsecondary systems. Since the costs of instruction in private institutions do not relate directly to state financing issues, they are not addressed in the study.

ISSUES

Several factors suggest the need for a study of instructional costs in Minnesota's public post-secondary systems. The factors include recent increases in tuition and fees and in the costs of instruction, the public's perception about the cost of attending a post-secondary institution, and Minnesota's current level of effort in financing public post-secondary education.

Trends in Tuition and Fees

Nationally, tuition and fee rates increased faster than the rate of inflation at U. S. public institutions between 1971 and 1987, according to Hauptman and Hartle (p. 5). The annual rate of increase in tuition and fees exceeded those of the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and disposable income since 1981. In Minnesota public post-secondary institutions, tuition and fee rates also increased faster t in the CPI, and in most instances, faster than per capita personal inclue between 1971 and 1987.

Trends in Instructional Costs

U. S. public post-secondary institutions' costs of instruction increased at a rate that was somewhat higher than the CPI, according to a recent national study by Snyder and Galambos (p. 7). The study found that public institutions had decreases in constant dollar spending per student in the early 1980s and increases after 1983. The study also found that expenditures for student services and institutional support rose as a percent of educational and general expenditures between 1970 and 1985, (p. 34). Recent trends in the cost of instruction for Minnesota public institutions have been similar in some respects to the national trends. Although the pattern of change is similar, the increases in most Minnesota systems have not exceeded the rate of inflation.

Bowen (p. 38) found that increases in the costs of instruction per student in all U. S. institutions of higher education rose faster than the CPI between fiscal years 1950 and 1970 and slower than the CPI between Fiscal Years 1930 and 1950 and between Fiscal Years 1970 and 1978. The average annual rate of decrease in constant dollars between 1930 and 1950 was .4 percent. Bowen attributed this decrease to an increase in the proportion of enrollments in public institutions. The average annual constant dollar increase between 1950 and 1970 was 3.2 percent. This

-2-

growth, according to Bowen, was a result of society's willingness to provide substantial increases in support for post-secondary education. The comparable change in costs per student between 1970 and 1978 was -.4 percent. Bowen attributed the decrease to a slowing in the growth of revenues.

Public Perception About the Cost of Attendance

The public perceives the cost of attending a post-secondary institution to be much higher than it is, and these perceptions may be affecting decisions to attend. The average estimate of tuition, fees, books, supplies, room, board, transportation costs, and personal expenses provided in response to a 1987 survey was \$9,120 at public four-year colleges and universities (Evangelauf, 1987, pp. A1, A70). The College Board estimated that the actual average for the 1987-88 school year was \$5,789 for state residents. The public's estimate of similar costs at two-year institutions was \$4,500, \$611 higher than the College Board estimate of \$3,889 for students living with their parents. A Coordinating Board survey found that only 33 percent of parents could accurately estimate the cost of attending a post-secondary institution (MHECB 1988, p. 54) In response to a recent national survey of 13 to 21 year-olds, 48 percent said that "too expensive, can't afford it," was the reason that more young people did not go to college (CASE, p. 5). Twenty-eight percent of the high school graduates who did not go to college gave "didn't have enough money" as the reason for not attending.

-3-

Minnesota's Ability to Finance Increases in Spending

Minnesota's ability to finance substantial increases in spending for public post-secondary education is uncertain. The state's current level of support for public post-secondary education, relative to its available resources, ranks above the national average (Research Associates of Washington, 1988, p. 60). The state's level of support on a per student basis, however, is equal to the national average and has decreased in the last ten years. The state's high level of taxation and the perennial efforts to hold down taxes raise questions about the state's ability to provide substantial increases in support.

STUDY OBJECTIVES

The study of public post-secondary costs has four objectives. The first objective is to describe the influences on postsecondary costs and tuition rates. The second objective is to document the recent trends in Minnesota public post-secondary institutions' costs and tuition rates and to compare the trends to those of other public institutions in the United States. The third objective is to explore the reasons for the recent trends in tuition and cost. The fourth objective is to identify strategies that could contain costs and tuition rates.

CONTENTS OF THE PAPER

This paper includes four chapters and two appendices. Chapter II defines the concepts and reviews the literature regarding influences on post-secondary costs and tuition rates. Chapter III reviews recent trends in costs and tuition rates and

-4-

discusses reasons for the trends. Chapter IV identifies strategies that could influence costs and tuition rates. Appendix A contains a more detailed description of the influences on postsecondary costs and tuition rates. Appendix B describes the data sources and methods used to examine recent trends in costs and tuition rates.

FOOTNOTES

- Bowen, Howard R., <u>The Costs of Higher Education</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1980.
- Council for Advancement and Support of Education (CASE), <u>Survey of</u> <u>Participation in Higher Education Among Young People 13-21</u> <u>Years of Age. Washington D. C. September 1988.</u>
- Evangelauf, Jean. "Many Americans Think College Costs Much More Than It Actually Does, A Chronicle Survey Finds," <u>The</u> <u>Chronicle of Higher Education</u>. September 2, 1987.
- Research Associates of Washington, <u>State Profiles</u> : <u>Financing</u> <u>Public Higher Education 1978 to 1988</u>. Washington D. C., July 1988a.
- Hauptman, Arthur and Terry Hartle, <u>Tuition Increases since 1970: A</u> <u>Perspective</u>, Higher Education And National Affairs. American <u>Council of Education</u>, February 23, 1987.
- Minnesota Higher Education Coordinating Board, <u>Report on Survey of</u> Parents of Eighth Graders. St. Paul, August 8, 1988.
- Snyder, Thomas P. and Eva C. Galambos, <u>Higher Education</u> <u>Administrative Costs: Continuing the Study</u>. Office of Education Improvement, United States Department of Education, Washington, D. C., January, 1988.

CHAPTER II. BACKGROUND

The term cost is used to refer to tuition, the cost of attending a post-secondary institution, and the institution's cost of providing instruction. These multiple uses of the term often create confusion. This chapter defines several concepts related to post-secondary expenditures and revenues. State financing policies for post-secondary education are described and literature regarding the influences on costs and tuition rates is reviewed.

DEFINITIONS

The terms cost and tuition are used to refer to two quite different concepts for this study. Cost is used to refer to institutional expenditures while tuition refers to the price students pay for instruction. These terms, as well as expenditures, revenues, and the cost of attendance are defined in this subsection. The definitions of expenditures and revenues are drawn from a publication entitled <u>HEGIS Financial Reporting Guide:</u> <u>1980 Edition (Allen, pp. 7-25).</u>

Expenditures

Post-secondary institutions' expenditures can be classified into two primary categories, current operating expenditures and capital expenditures.

<u>Current Operating Expenditures.</u> Post-secondary institutions' current operating expenditures are defined as the total cost of the goods and services used in operating the institution during the current fiscal year. Operating expenditures include broad

-7-

subcategories of educational and general expenditures, auxiliary enterprise expenditures, hospital expenditures, and expenditures for independent operations. Educational and general expenditures are those that support the accomplishment of the institution's mission. They include direct expenditures for the primary function of instruction, research, and public service as well as indirect expenditures for functions that support the accomplishment of the three primary functions. The support functions include academic support, libraries, student services, institutional support, and physical plant operations. Auxiliary enterprise expenditures are for the operations of institutional entities that provide goods and services to students and employ-Examples of auxiliary enterprises include dormitories, food ees. services, and book stores. Hospital expenditures are those associated with patient care at hospitals operated by the institution. Expenditures for independent operations are for those entities that are unrelated to the primary mission of the institution.

A subset of current operating expenditures is the category of state general fund expenditures. This category includes institutional expenditures that are supported by revenues included in the state budget. State general fund expenditures are those supported by state appropriations, tuition revenue, and several other minor revenue categories. The state budget excludes most expenditures supported by revenues from gifts, grants, contracts, endowments, and the sales and services of institutional activities.

<u>Capital Expenditures.</u> The textbook definition of a capital expenditure is one incurred to obtain an asset with a useful life

-8-

of more than one year. The term capital is used in this study to refer to expenditures for fixed assets such as land, buildings, and major equipment which are used for long periods of time. Such capital acquisitions typically are financed by the sale of bonds. As a consequence, a post-secondary institution's capital expenditures typically take the form of principal and interest payments on bonds, or debt service.

The Cost of Instruction

The term cost of instruction is defined for this study as the expenditures incurred by a post-secondary institution to provide instruction. The cost of instruction includes both a portion of operating and a portion of capital expenditures.

Operating Cost of Instruction. The operating cost of instruction is a subset of educational and general expenditures. The subset includes both the direct expenditures for instruction and the indirect expenditures attributable to instruction. Direct expenditures are those incurred in providing classroom instruction. They include categories such as faculty compensation, supplies and materials. Indirect expenditures for instruction include the component of expenditures for support functions that is related to the provision of instruction. The component related to the provision of instruction is typically determined through a cost study. Support service expenditures are attributed to instruction, research, and public service on the basis of measures and judgments about the demand for those support services by each of the three primary functions. Support expenditures not

-9-

considered part of the cost of instruction are allocated to research appublic service.

<u>Capital lost of Instruction</u>. The capital cost of instruction is the portion of doot service payments for capital expenditures that is related to the provision of instruction. A cost study would be required to determine the portion of debt service expenditures that is attributable to instruction.

Revenues

Public post-secondary institutions derive revenue from many sources. They include tuition and fees, government appropriations, and other sources.

<u>Tuition and Fees.</u> Tuition and fees include revenues from charges assessed students who attend an institution. Tuition revenues typically are used for educational purposes. Fee revenues typically are used to support student services or activities.

<u>Government Appropriations.</u> Government appropriations include revenues for current operations received from federal, state, or local units of government. The appropriations may be available for any operating purpose, or they may be restricted to use for certain purposes.

<u>Other Sources.</u> This category includes revenues from government grants and contracts, private gifts, private grants and contracts, endowment income, sales and services of educational activities, auxiliary enterprises, and hospitals.

The Cost of Attendance

The cost of attendance is defined as the expenses a student incurs to attend a post-secondary institution. It includes educa-

-10-

tional expenses and living expenses. Educational expenses are those for purposes such as tuition, fees, books, and supplies. Living expenses are those for housing, food, transportation, clothing, and personal items incurred while a student is pursuing a post-secondary education.

THE ROLE OF COSTS IN FINANCING PUBLIC POST-SECONDARY EDUCATION

The costs of instruction are important in Minnesota's financing policies for the public post-secondary systems. The operating cost of instruction directly influences levels of tuition revenue and state appropriations to the systems. The capital cost of instruction is financed almost exclusively by state appropriations.

The Operating Cost of Instruction

Minnesota uses an average cost funding formula to provide appropriations for the operating cost of instruction in the public post-secondary education systems. Levels of appropriations are determined on the basis of the costs of providing instruction and the volume of instruction provided. Cost is measured by the average operating cost of instruction per student, and volume is measured by full year equivalent or average daily membership enrollments. The average costs are calculated for each level of instruction -- lower division, upper division, graduate, and professional -- and each of three program cost categories -- low, medium, and high. The costs are multiplied by the corresponding enrollment two years prior to the year being funded. The products are added to obtain estimated instructional expenditures. Thus,

-11-

estimated instructional expenditures for Fiscal Year 1988 are based on Fiscal Year 1986 enrollments and Fiscal Year 1988 costs. The two year lag is intended to provide time for institutions to adjust their spending levels to enrollment changes. Appropriations for instruction are equal to 67 percent of estimated instructional expenditures for the University of Minnesota, the State University System, and the Community College System. Appropriations for instruction are equal to at least 67 percent of estimated instructional expenditures for the Technical Institute System.

The state tuition policy expects that 33 percent of estimated instructional expenditures will be funded by students through tuition revenue in the collegiate systems and at least 26 percent will be funded by students in the Technical Institute System. The expected tuition percentage applies only in the aggregate to each public post-secondary education system. Each system governing board has discretion in implementing the tuition policy. There is no expectation that each student must pay a specified percentage of the cost of instruction. Tuition rates may be uniform or they may vary on the basis of the level of instruction, the program cost, or other appropriate factors. Governing boards may raise either more or less than the expected amount of tuition revenue. Governing boards also set required fee rates.

The Capital Cost of Instruction

The capital cost of instruction for the public post-secondary education systems is financed primarily by the state and, in some instances, by school districts that operate technical institutes.

-12-

The state finances 100 percent of the capital cost of instruction on projects it approves for consolidated technical institutes such as Southwestern Technical Institute, the Community College System, the State University System, and the University of Minnesota. The state finances 85 percent of the capital cost of instruction on projects it approves for other technical institutes, and the school district operating the institute finances the remaining 15 percent. The University of Minnesota and the State University System have the authority to bond for construction and do so primarily for auxiliary enterprise facilities. Debt service on these bonds is typically paid from user fees.

INFLUENCES ON POST-SECONDARY COSTS

There are many influences that affect post-secondary institution's costs of instruction. Paul Brinkman of National Center for Higher Education Management Systems developed a conceptual framework that identifies three sources of influence on postsecondary costs (1988). The influences are those of the institution itself, the higher education community, and the external environment. He identifies cultural and material conditions within each level of influence that affect costs. Culture represents the predominant set of values, attitudes, and norms that influence the operation of the institution. Material conditions represent the physical state of affairs, the structures, and the relationships within which the institution operates.

Influences within post-secondary institutions have the most direct impact on costs, according to Brinkman. System influences

-13-

on institutions costs are treated as institutional influences. An institution's values, attitudes and norms are a significant influence on costs. Brin can identifies the mission, the size and nature of student bo the physical plant, the revenues av able, system and ins sutional financing policies, system /ernance structures, and nstitutional management practices as material conditions that influence costs. An institution's relative emphasis on instruction, research, and public service as well as its specialization within each of these areas affects its costs. An institution's costs of instruction are affected by the number and mix of disciplines offered and the number and level of degree and support programs offered. The size and nature of the student body is an important influence on costs. The size, age, location, and condition of an institution's physical plant affect its costs. Bowen (pp. 17-23) argues that in the short run, an institution's available revenues per student determine its costs. The cost per student is a function of available revenue and enrollment, according to this "revenue" theory of cost. System allocation policies and institutional budgeting practices influence post-secondary institutions' costs. System governance structures also influence costs.

Post-secondary institutions are members of a community of institutions and other post-secondary education organizations. Values, attitudes, and norms espoused within the post-secondary education community influence individual institution's costs. Brinkman contends that a primary cultural influence of the community is exerted through disciplines. Material conditions

-14-

such as the current knowledge base within disciplines, instructional technologies, relations among institutions, and postsecondary education organizations affect institutions' costs, according to Brinkman.

The environment external to post-secondary institutions and the post-secondary education community also exerts significant influence on post-secondary institutions' costs. Brinkman identifies two external cultural conditions that relate directly to post-secondary education. They are expectations for postsecondary education and the value of post-secondary education. In addition, Brinkman discusses several other conditions that affect many sectors of society including post-secondary education. Changes in society's expectations for post-secondary education influence costs. The value of post-secondary education to consumers, producers, and entities that finance it has significant impacts on costs. Fundamental changes in society such as the civil rights and women's movements influence post-secondary costs.

Many material conditions external to post-secondary education that exert influence on post-secondary costs were identified by Brinkman. Government's financing policies and regulatory practices are its primary influences on post-secondary costs. The political climate can have a substantial impact of costs. Economic factors including inflation, unemployment, the condition of the economy, and the demand for individuals with advanced training are influences on post-secondary costs. Post-secondary costs also are affected by demographic, technological, and social changes.

-15-

INFLUENCES ON POST-SECONDARY TUITION RATES

Several influences affect public post-secondary education tuition rates. External influences probably are the most significant influences on public post-secondary tuition rates. They include state tuition policies, levels of state appropriations, and external cultural conditions.

A review of the literature reveals four broad approaches used by states in setting tuition rates for their public post-secondary institutions (McKeown, p. 5 and Curry, p. 6). The first approach consists of adjusting tuition rates based on the change in a specified economic index. The index might be an index of prices such as the Consumer Price Index, the Higher Education Price Index, or a measure of changes in individual income. The second approach consists of establishing tuition rates or levels of tuition revenue in relationship to some measure of the cost of providing instruction. The third approach consists of establishing tuition rates on the basis of the rates at benchmark institutions. The fourth approach tends not to be as formally specified as the other three. This approach is characterized as one that sets tuition to generate all or most of the difference between what the institutions believe they need and what the state and/or local government appropriate.

The level of state appropriations appears to be a significant influence on tuition rates (Wittstruck and Bragg, p. 21). This relationship can be both negative and positive. In the short term, higher increases in state appropriations have been

-16-

associated with smaller increases in tuition. Tuition rates also increase with appropriations in the long term.

A state's collective values and attitudes regarding postsecondary education are a significant influence on tuition rates. The extent to which a state values access to post-secondary education, and the way it chooses to promote access affect tuition rates. The post-secondary community exerts influence on public post-secondary institutions' tuition rates through competition.

System and institutional influences include both material and cultural conditions. A system or institution's cost of instruction influences its tuition rates. The nature of that role depends in part upon the state tuition policy. The values, attitudes, and norms that a system or institution holds also influence its tuition rates.

FOOTNOTES

- Allen, Richard H., <u>HEGIS Financial Reporting Guide: 1980 Edition</u>. National Center for Higher Education Management Systems, 1980.
- Bowen, Howard R., <u>The Costs of Higher Education</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1980.
- Brinkman, Paul, <u>The Cost of Providing Higher Education: A</u> <u>Conceptual Overview</u>. Denver, State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.
- Curry, Denis J., <u>Tuition and Student Aid Policies: What Role For</u> <u>SHEEOS?</u>. Denver, State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.
- McKeown, Mary P., <u>State Policies on Tuition and Fees for Public</u> <u>Higher Education</u>. The Journal of Education Finance, Vol. 8, Summer, 1980.
- Wittstruck, John R. and Stephen M. Bragg, <u>Focus on Price Trends</u> in <u>Public Higher Education: Tuition and State Support</u>. Denver, State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.

-----. - · ·
CHAPTER III. TRENDS IN COSTS AND TUITION RATES

The conventional wisdom is that costs and tuition rates have increased significantly in recent years. This chapter examines trends in several economic indices and trends in costs, tuition rates, and financial aid that were prepared with data from Minnesota's public post-secondary systems, Higher Education General Information Survey (HEGIS), Research Associates of Washington, Higher Education Coordinating Board, and The National Association of State Scholarship and Grant Programs. Reasons for the observed trends are discussed. The last section of the chapter presents conclusions. Appendix B describes of the data sources, limitations, definitions, and the methods of analysis used.

ECONOMIC INDICES

The prices of goods and services purchased by post-secondary institutions grew much faster than prices in the United States economy and slightly faster than the prices of consumer goods and services between 1978 and 1989. The cumulative Higher Education Price Index (HEPI) was 11.9 percentage points higher than the CPI and 26.6 points higher than the Gross National Product (GNP) Deflator for the 11-year period, as shown in Table 1. Growth in the HEPI exceeded that of the GNP Deflator by 1.3 percent per year and that of the Consumer Price Index (CPI) by .5 percent per year between 1979 and 1989. The growth rate of the CPI, however, exceeded that of the HEPI and the Deflator between 1979 and 1983.

-19-

Hiç	Higher Education Price Index, Consumer Price Index, Gross National Product Implicit Deflator, and Minnesota Per Capita Personal Income Fiscal Years 1979-1989					
Year	Higher Education Price Index	Consumer Price Index	Gross National Product Deflator	Minnesota Per Capita Personal Income		
Average Char	nge					
1971–1978	6.6%	6.8%	-	9.6%		
1979–1983	8.9%	9.4%	8.0%	8.7%		
1984–1989	4.9%	3.5%	3.3%	6.3%		
1979–1989	6.7%	6.2%	5.4%	7.4%		
Cumulative (Thange					
1971	63.9	63.4	-	52.7		
1978	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0		
1983	153.4	156.8	146.8	152.0		
1986	180.1	173.7	161.5	187.2		
1989*	* 204.4	192.5	177.8	219.3		

SOURCE: HEPI, Research Associates of Washington; CPI, Bureau of Labor Statistics, U.S. Department of Labor; GNP and Minnesota Per Capita Disposable Income, Minnesota Department of Finance.

* HEPI and CPI inflation rates in 1989 were assumed to be equal to the 1988 rates. Growth rates of the GNP Deflator are those projected by the Department of Finance.

Average Percent Change and Cumulative Change

G

Since 1983, the HEPI has risen more rapidly than the Deflator and the CPI.

The fact that the HEPI has risen more rapidly than the CPI since 1982 has generated some controversy. Given the differences in the mix of goods and services that each is based on, however, there is no particular reason why they should increase at similar rates. The fact that the HEPI rose more slowly than the CPI prior to 1982 often is cited one reason why the HEPI has risen more rapidly since then. It is argued that expenditures for certain items did not keep pace with inflation. Recent increases in costs are attributed, in part, to attempts to recover the lost ground.

Minnesota per capita personal income grew more rapidly than the three price indices between 1978 and 1989. It grew at rates comparable to those of the price indices prior to 1983 and has grown much more rapidly than the indices since 1983. This trend reflects the strong, diverse nature of the state's economy.

POST-SECONDARY COSTS

Recent trends in post-secondary institutions' operating costs of instruction, support expenditures, and the capital cost of instruction are presented in this section. The Minnesota systems' data are used to examine trends between 1978 and 1989. The HEGIS data are used to compare trends for Minnesota institutions with those of similar institutions in other states. The HEGIS data, particularly the enrollment data, have several significant limitations. The limitations are described in Appendix B.

-21-

Operating Cost of Instruction

This subsection presents data on the operating cost of instruction. The systems' data on instructional expenditures per full-year equivalent (FYE) enrollment are used to examine Minnesota trends. HEGIS data on estimated instructional expenditures per full-time equivalent (FTE) enrollment are used to compare Minnesota trends to those of other U. S. public postsecondary institutions in each of the five institutional classifications. The classifications are those developed by the National Center for Higher Education Management Systems (NCHEMS). The classifications are described and the Minnesota institutions in each are listed in Appendix B.

Systems' Instructional Expenditure Data. Three of the four public systems have levels of spending per student in 1989 that are lower than 1978 levels in constant dollar terms. All four systems had decreases, some substantial, in constant dollar expenditures from 1978 to 1983, as shown in Table 2. Between 1983 and 1986, conversely, all systems had increases in per student expenditures. Except for the University of Minnesota, all systems had decreases between 1986 and 1989.

The constant dollar decreases in per student spending between 1978 and 1983 were primarily due to state funding policies, the state's fiscal crises, and double digit inflation. The state funding policy for the collegiate systems provided no state appropriations for enrollment increases between 1978 to 1981. Small additional state appropriations were provided for enrollment increases in 1982 and 1983. The state's fiscal crises in the

-22-

Table 2 Average Instructional Expenditures Per Full Year Equivalent Student** In Current and Constant Dollars for Minnesota Public Systems Fiscal Years 1978, 1983, 1986, and 1989

System	Current	Constan	Constant Dollars*		
Fiscal Year	Per FYE	Dollars Per FYE	Pct. Change From 1978	Current \$	
University of 1	Minnesota				
1978	\$2,956	\$ 2, 956	-	171,126.3	
19 83	\$4,120	\$2,686	-9.1%	242,146.4	
1986	\$5,349	\$2,970	0.5%	300,280.9	
19 89	\$6,521	\$3,190	7.9%	360,972.1	
State Universi	ty System				
1 978	\$2,149	\$2,149	-	82,789.7	
1 983	\$2,953	\$1,925	-10.4%	124,314.4	
1 986	\$3,859	\$2,143	-0.3%	166,622.6	
1989	\$3,996	\$1,955	-9.0%	202,850.3	
Community Colle	ege System				
1978	\$1,790	\$1,790	-	36,273.6	
19 83	\$ 2, 335	\$1,522	-15.0%	57, 496. 6	
1986	\$3,150	\$1,749	-2.3%	76,348.2	
19 89	\$3,381	\$1,654	-7.6%	102,088.0	
Technical Inst:	itute System				
1978	\$2 , 567	\$2,567	-	90,978.8	
1983	\$3,745	\$2,442	-4.9%	154,901.1	
1986	\$4,654	\$2,584	0.7%	182,993.6	
19 89	\$5,094	\$2,492	-2.9%	206,544.2	

SOURCE: Minnesota Department of Finance

* The Higher Education Price Index was used as a deflator with 1978 = 100.

The inflation rate for 1989 was assumed to be 4.4 percent.

** Expenditure and enrollment data for Fiscal Year 1989 are estimated.

early 1980s were precipitated by an economic recession and the resulting decreases of revenues below expected levels. In response to the crises, levels of state appropriations for all purposes, including public post-secondary education, were reduced several times. Although the systems' tuition rates increased significantly, they were not able to recover all the lost appropriations. Finally, prices throughout the economy escalated rapidly between 1979 and 1983. The HEPI rose 34 percent during this period and substantially exceeded inflationary adjustments in funding. Since all four systems had enrollment growth between 1978 and 1983, the lack of proportional increases in state funding together with reductions in state appropriations and the high rate of inflation meant decreases in average spending per student.

The increases in constant dollar spending per student between 1983 and 1986 appear to be due to a change in state financing policies in 1983 and stable or declining enrollments. The policy provides funding on the basis of the costs of instruction and enrollment two years earlier. A new tuition policy required students to pay a larger share of the costs of instruction. The net effect of the policies was higher levels of instructional revenues. The revenue increases together with stable or declining enrollments resulted in higher levels of constant dollar spending per student in 1986 than was the case in 1983.

Enrollment increases and the two year lag in the funding policy were apparently, in large part, the cause of decreases in spending per student in three of the systems between 1986 and 1989. The State University System and the Community College

-24-

System have had dramatic enrollment increases since 1986. The two year lag means that state appropriations for the additional students are delayed. Some state appropriations were provided in fiscal years 1988 and 1989 for enrollment increases not funded under the two year lag. In spite of the additional appropriations, enrollment increases depressed levels of revenue and consequently spending per student. Economies of scale also may mean that somewhat lower levels of expenditures were needed to provide instruction.

Enrollment decreases, the two year lag, and the University's Commitment to Focus program were likely the causes of increases in constant dollar spending per student at the University of Minnesota between 1986 and 1989. The University had enrollment decreases between 1986 and 1989. The two year lag means that state appropriations decrease two years after enrollments. Consequently revenues and spending per student, increase. The University also has received some additional state funding for its Commitment to Focus program.

HEGIS Instructional Expenditure Data. Both Minnesota and non-Minnesota institutions in all classifications had per student constant dollar decreases between 1978 and 1983 and increases between 1983 and 1986, as shown in Table 3. Minnesota public post-secondary institutions had larger decreases in average estimated constant dollar instructional expenditures per student than similar non-Minnesota institutions between 1978 and 1983 in three of five classifications examined. Minnesota institutions had percentage increases similar to non-Minnesota institutions

-25-

Table 3Average Est: od Instructional ExpendituresPer Ri. dime Equivalent StudentInconstant Dollars*Minnesota Public Institutions and OtherPublic Institutional Classification Fiscal Years 1978, 1983, and 1986Minnesota Public Institutional Classification Fiscal Years 1978, 1983, and 1986Institutional Classification And Fiscal YearDollars Per FTEPct. Change From 1978Dollars Per FTEPct. Change From 1978Per FTEFrom 1978Per FTEFrom 1978Research Universities1978\$7,178-\$6,692-1983\$7,119-0.8%\$6,588-1.6%1986\$7,7187.5%\$7,1747.2%Comprehensive Institutions1978\$4,357-\$5,068-1978\$4,357-\$5,068-		- 2	-26-	-						
In Constant Dublic Institutions and Other Public Institutions in the United States By Institutional Classification Fiscal Years 1978, 1983, and 1986 Institutional Classification And Fiscal Year Per FTE From 1978 Per FTE Prom 1978 Per FTE Page 1978 \$7,178 - \$6,692 - 1983 \$7,178 - \$6,692 - 1983 \$7,178 - \$6,588 - 1986 \$7,718 7.5% \$7,174 7.2% Comprehensive Institutions 1978 \$4,357 1978 \$4,357 1978 \$6,068	Table 3 Average Esta od Instructional Expenditures Per Full Cime Equivalent Student I. Constant Dollars*									
MinnesotaNon-MinnesotaInstitutional Classification And Fiscal YearDollars Per FTEPct. Change From 1978Dollars Per FTEPct. Change From 1978Research Universities1978\$7,178-\$6,692-1983\$7,119-0.8%\$6,588-1.6%1986\$7,7187.5%\$7,1747.2%Comprehensive Institutions1978\$4,357-\$5,068-	titu in t Clas	Public Ir stitutions titutional Years 1978	Inst ons in nal C. 978,	itut: in the class: 1983	ions and e United ificatic , and 19	Oth Sta n 86	er Ites			
Institutional ClassificationDollars Per FTEPct. Change From 1978Dollars Per FTEPct. Change From 1978Research Universities1978-\$6,692-1983\$7,178-\$6,588-1.6%1986\$7,7187.5%\$7,1747.2%Comprehensive Institutions1978\$4,357-\$5,068-		Minnesota	ta				NC	n-Minn	esota	
Research Universities 1978 \$7,178 - \$6,692 - 1983 \$7,119 -0.8% \$6,588 -1.6% 1986 \$7,718 7.5% \$7,174 7.2% Comprehensive Institutions 1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 -	Char 19	Pct. Fro	ct. C From	Thange 1978	je	Do] Per	lars FIE		Pct. (From	hange 1978
1978 \$7,178 - \$6,692 - 1983 \$7,119 -0.8% \$6,588 -1.6% 1986 \$7,718 7.5% \$7,174 7.2% Comprehensive Institutions 1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 - 1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 -										
1983 \$7,119 -0.8% \$6,588 -1.6% 1986 \$7,718 7.5% \$7,174 7.2% Comprehensive Institutions 1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 - 1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 -	-		-	-		\$ 6 ,	692		-	-
1986 \$7,718 7.5% \$7,174 7.2% Comprehensive Institutions 1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 -).8%	-	-0.	.8%		\$6,	,58 8		-1.	.6%
Comprehensive Institutions 1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 -	'.5%		7.	.5%		\$7,	.174		7.	.2%
1978 \$4,357 - \$5,068 -				<u></u>						
	-		-	-		\$5	,068		-	-
1983 \$3,791 -13.0% \$5,025 -0.9%	.3.0	-	-13	3.0%		\$5	,025		-0	.98
1986 \$4,130 -5.2% \$5,420 6.9%	5.2%		-5.	.2%		\$5	,420		6.	.9%
General Baccalaureate Institutions		5				<u>,</u>				
1978 \$6,593 - \$4,836 -			_	-		\$4	,836		-	-
1983 \$4,743 -28.1% \$4,553 -5.9%	28.1	-	-28	8.1%		\$4	,553		-5	.98
1986 \$4,902 -25.6% \$4,743 -1.9%	25.6		-25	5.6%		\$4	,743		-1	.98
Two-Year Academic-Comprehensive Institutions		stitution	ons						·····	
1978 \$3,429 - \$3,695 -	-		-	-		\$3	,695		-	-
1983 \$3,144 -8.3% \$3,439 -6.9%	3.3%		-8.	.3%		\$ 3	,439		-6	.98
1986 \$3,509 2.3% \$ 3 ,840 3.9%	2.3%		2.	.3%		\$ 3	,840		3	.9%
Two-Year Occupational Institutions		5								
1978 \$6,623 - \$4,130 -	-		-	-		\$4	.130		-	-
1983 \$6,363 -3.9% \$3,934 -4.7%	3.9%		-3.	.9%		\$ 3	,934		-4	.7%
1986 \$6,816 2.9% \$4,512 9.3%	2.9%		2.	.9%		\$4	,512		9	.3%

SOURCE: IPEDS Financial Statistics and Fall Enrollment surveys * The Higher Education Price Index was used as a deflator with 1986 = 100.

between 1983 and 1986. They did not, however, reach the same percentage of 1978 levels as non-Minnesota institutions because of the larger decreases between 1978 and 1983. The exception was the research university classification in which the Minnesota trend was virtually identical to that of similar non-Minnesota institutions.

The constant dollar decreases in instructional expenditures per student observed nationally between 1978 and 1983 appear to be, in large part, a consequence of rapid inflation and a recession. The prices of post-secondary goods and services increased more rapidly between 1980 and 1982 than during any other period since 1961. Appropriations and tuition revenue per student did not increase as rapidly as prices between 1978 and 1983, as shown in Table 4. As a consequence, expenditures decreased in constant dollars. The recession in the early 1980s affected many states, leading to severe fiscal problems for public post-secondary education. In response to a 1983 survey by the Education Commission of the States, 22 states reported that higher education budget reductions occurred in 1982, and 34 reported that they occurred in 1983 (ECS, p. 28). Actions taken to reduce expenditures included salary and staffing changes, enrollment limitations, termination of degree programs, delays in construction and maintenance, and reductions in support services (ECS, pp. 32-7).

The national constant dollar increases in expenditures per student between 1983 and 1986 likely were due to several factors: the lingering effects of inflation, an increased emphasis on

-27-

Table 4Education Appropriations and Tuition Revenue and Education AppropriationsPer Full Year Equivalent Student In Constant Dollars* Minnesota Public Institutions and Inited States Public Institutions					
	Fi	iscal Years 1978, 1	983, and 1986		
Minnesota United States					
Fiscal Year	Dollars Per FTE	Pct. Change From 1978	Dollars Per FIE	Pct. Change From 1978	
Education Appropriations and Tuition Revenue per FTE					
1978	\$5,106	-	\$4,586	_	
1983	\$4,367	-14.5%	\$4,259	-7.1%	
1986	\$4,861	-4.8%	\$4,841	5.6%	
Education Appropriations per FYE					
1978	\$4,232	-	\$3,634	-	
1983	\$3,344	-21.0%	\$3,275		
1986	\$3,677	-13.1%	\$ 3, 726	3.5 %	

SOURCE: Research Associates of Washington, "State Profiles, Financing Public Higher Education 1978-1988." Washington, D. C., July 1988. * The Higher Education Price Index was used as a deflator with 1986 = 100.

·--.--

-28-

post-secondary institutions' quality and their role in economic development, and the economic recovery.

The prices of some higher education goods and services have increased more rapidly than others in recent years. Compensation increases have exceeded non-personnel increases since 1982 (Research Associates of Washington, 1988b, pp. 12-3). During most of the 1970s and early 1980s, compensation increased more slowly than the CPI. Recent increases in expenditures can be attributed in part to institutions' efforts to regain the lost employee purchasing power. Collective bargaining and unionization of postsecondary employees also are likely to have resulted in higher costs than otherwise would have been the case. The prices of books and services also have increased more rapidly than other goods and services in 13 of the last 18 years (Research Associates of Washington, 1988b, pp. 12-3).

The quality of post-secondary education and role of postsecondary institutions in economic development have become the focus of public attention and public policy in recent years. Wittstruck and Bragg (p. 6) cited national and state efforts addressing these issues. Nationally, several reports have raised concerns about quality. In response to a 1985 survey, 16 of 20 states reported that endowed chairs or quality funding efforts were being developed or had been established (Mingle and Walker, pp. 1-11). The Commitment to Focus effort of the University of Minnesota and the Coordinating Board's quality assessment effort are Minnesota manifestations of the national trend toward quality improvement. The Mingle and Walker survey also found 15 states

-29-

reporting efforts to develop applied research centers or higher education-business linkages. Like other states, Minnesota has increased basic and applied research and technology transfer, established instructional programs that produce gradeates for new and existing state industries, and developed training programs tailored to the needs of specific firms.

The economic recovery has meant that states and localities have had more revenues available to support higher costs, quality improvement, and economic development efforts in post-secondary education. The national average state and local appropriations per student increased substantially in constant dollars between 1983 and 1986, as shown in Table 4.

Although three categories of Minnesota institutions had larger decreases in spending per student than similar non-Minnesota institutions between 1978 and 1983, the Minnesota increases between 1983 and 1986 were comparable to those of non-Minnesota institutions. The larger decreases in Minnesota were probably due to the more severe effect of the recession on the state and a state funding policy that did not provide substantial additional state appropriations for enrollment growth. Minnesota's post-secondary education budget reductions were among the largest reported in the 1983 ECS survey (ECS, pp. 27-8). As indicated above, Minnesota's funding policy did not provide significant additional state support for enrollment increases. Although enrollment-related funding was not universal, it was the predominant method of financing in the early 1980s. Twenty-nine states reported using a state level enrollment-related funding

-30-

formula or guideline in response to a 1980 survey (McKeown, pp. 280-1).

Support Expenditures

This subsection presents data on support expenditures for instruction. The systems' data on instructional and support expenditures are used to examine Minnesota trends. A recent national study on trends in student services and institutional support expenditures in U. S. public post-secondary institutions is cited. This study used HEGIS data.

Systems' Data. The trends in support expenditures as a percent of the instructional expenditures vary among the public systems. Support expenditures include academic support, student services, institutional support and physical plant operations. The State University System and the Community College System had increases of 4.9 and 6.4 percent between 1978 and 1989, as shown in Table 5. The University of Minnesota remained stable, and the Technical Institute System had a decrease.

HEGIS Data. Snyder and Galambos (p. 34) found that a portion of post-secondary institutions' support expenditures, student services and institutional support costs, had risen more rapidly than educational and general expenditures. Student services and institutional support costs rose from 12.5 percent of educational and general expenditures in 1949-50 to 19.2 percent in 1984-85. The increase in the proportion of expenditures for student services and institutional support occurred primarily in the 1960s and early 1970s with modest increases in the 1980s.

-31-

Table 5 Support Expenditures* as a Percent of Instructional Expenditures** and Change from 1978 Fiscal Years 1978, 1983, 1986, and 1989

System and Fiscal Year	Support as Pct. of Instructional Expenditules	Change From 1978
University of Minne	sota	
1978	34.5%	-
1983	35.2%	0.7%
1986	32.5%	-2.0%
1989	35.3%	0.8%
State University Sy	rstem	
1978	37.9%	-
1983	41.2%	3.3%
1986	41.8%	3.9%
1989	42.8%	4.9%
Community College S	System	
1978	46.2%	-
1 983	46.8%	0.5%
19 86	52.8%	6.6%
1989	52.6%	6.4%
Technical Institute	e System	
1 978	42.0%	-
1983	42.0%	0.0%
19 86	35.0%	-7.0%
19 89	35.0%	-7.0%

SOURCE: Minnesota Department of Finance

.--.--

> * Support expenditures are estimated for the TIS in all years and for the other systems in some years. ** Expenditure data for Fiscal Year 1989 are estimated.

Several reasons are advanced to explain the increases in support and administrative expenses. Post-secondary institutions are providing more and better services such as career guidance, counseling, job placement, and health services. Institutions are employing more sophisticated and specialized management and finance staff. Finally, compliance with increased government requirements such as environmental and employment regulations is resulting in increased administrative costs.

Capital Cost of Instruction

This subsection presents data on the capital cost of instruction. Minnesota state appropriations for post-secondary education debt service are used to illustrate the magnitude of capital costs. There are no comparable national data on capital expenditures available.

Debt service for the public systems constitutes a substantial proportion of the state's support for post-secondary education. Minnesota will spend more than \$70 million in Fiscal Year 1989 for post-secondary debt service, as displayed in Table 6. In relationship to each system's operating appropriations, debt service ranges from 6.6 percent for the Technical Institute System to 10.8 percent for the Community College System. Additional debt service is paid by school districts that operate technical institutes.

Capital costs may increase more rapidly in the future. Many maintenance, repair, and renovation projects were postponed during the high inflationary years. In response to a recent survey, 60 percent of college planners reported that the need for new or modernized facilities on their campuses was "extremely urgent" or

-33-

Table 6
State Debt Service and Percent of
Operating Apropriations for the
Public Post Secondary Education Systems
Fiscal Year 1989

System	Debt Service Appropriation	Percent of Operating Appropriation
University of Minnesota	\$37,521,000	9.3%
State University System	\$11,797,000	8.0%
Community College System	\$8,237,000	10.8%
Technical Institute System State Debt Service State Debt Service Aid	\$5,496,000 \$4,704,600	
Technical Institute Total	\$10,200,600	6.6%
Total	\$70,428,600	

.

SOURCE: Minnesota Department of Finance

.- *-

"very urgent" (Evangelauf, pp. 1, 20). As a result of the delays, many institutions will need extensive capital improvements, as well as increased spending for maintenance. Ninty-nine percent of the planners responding to the above survey reported that their institutions would start major construction or renovation projects in the next five years.

TUITION AND REQUIRED FEE RATES

Recent trends in post-secondary institutions' tuition and required fee rates are presented in this section. The possible causes of the trends also are discussed. The Minnesota systems' data are used to examine trends between 1971 and 1989. The HEGIS data are used to compare trends for Minnesota institutions with those of similar institutions in other states.

Systems' Data

This subsection presents data on selected tuition rates and required fee rates in Minnesota public post-secondary institutions.

<u>Tuition Rates.</u> Tuition rates in all four public systems rose substantially in constant dollars between 1971 and 1989. The State University and Community College Systems had decreases, and the University of Minnesota had an increase in constant dollar tuition rates between 1971 and 1978, as shown in Table 7. Increases were moderate between 1978 and 1983 and substantial between 1983 and 1986 in all four public systems. Between 1986 and 1989 the State University and Community College Systems had slight changes in constant dollar tuition rates while the

-35-

Table 7 Full-Time Resident Undergraduate, Graduate, and Professional Tuition Rates In Current and Constant Dollars for Minnesota Public Systems Fiscal Years 1971, 1978, 1983, 1986, and 1989

System,	Current		Constant Dollars***			
And Fiscal Year	R2	Rate	Pct. Change From 1971	Pct. Change From 1978		
University of I	Minnesou					
Undergradua	te-Collega of I	Liberal Arts				
1971	\$ 399	Şö2 9	-	-		
19 78	\$762	\$762	21.1%	_		
19 83	\$1,297	\$827	31.4%	8.6%		
1 986	\$1,6 <mark>69</mark>	\$ 961	52.7%	26.1%		
19 89	\$1 ,896	\$ 985	56.5%	29.3%		
Undergradua	te- College of H	Forestry				
1 971	\$399	\$629	-	-		
1978	\$ 825	\$825	31.1%	-		
1 983	\$1,407	\$897	42.6%	8.8%		
19 86	\$1,962	\$1,130	79.5%	36.9%		
19 89	\$2,381	\$1,237	9 6. 5%	49.9%		
Graduate						
1971	\$ 350	\$ 552	-	-		
1 978	\$ 855	\$ 855	54.9%	-		
1983	\$1,590	\$1,014	83.7%	18.6%		
1 986	\$2,279	\$1,312	137.7%	53.5%		
19 89	\$2,673	\$1,389	151.5%	62.4%		
Professiona	l—Medical Schoo	ol				
1971	\$ 684	\$1,079	-	-		
1978	\$1,866	\$1,866	73.0%	-		
1983	\$2,580	\$1,645	52.5%	-11.8%		
1986	\$4,114	\$2,368	119.5%	26.9%		
19 89	\$5,103	\$2,651	145.7%	42.1%		

-	37	-
Table	7	cont.

System,	Current		Constant Dollars**	*
And Fiscal Year	Rate	Rate	Pct. Change From 1971	Pct. Change From 1978
State Univers	ity System			
Undergradu	ate			
1971	\$326	\$514	_	-
1978	\$ 461	\$461	-10.3%	-
1983	\$ 794	\$506	-1.5%	9.8%
1986	\$1,316	\$7 58	47.3%	64.3%
1989	\$1,440	\$748	45.5%	62.3%
Graduate				
1971	\$285	\$450	_	-
1 978	\$390	\$390	-13.2%	-
1983	\$678	\$432	-3.8%	10.9%
1986	\$1,178	\$678	50.9%	73.9%
1989	\$1,289	\$670	49.0%	71.7%
Community Col	lege System			
1971	\$293	\$462	-	-
1978	\$439	\$439	-5.0%	-
1983	\$ 758	\$483	4.6%	10.1%
1986	\$1,080	\$622	34.5%	41.6%
1 989	\$1,204	\$625	35.3%	42.5%
Technical Ins	titute System**			
1971	N⁄A	-	-	-
19 78	N/A	-	-	-
19 83	\$ 438	\$279	-	-
1986	\$1,070	\$616	-	120.5%
1989	\$1,305	\$678	_	142.7%

SOURCE: Minnesota Higher Education Coordinating Board

* Undergraduate tuition rates for academic years 1982-83 through 1988-89 are an average of lower and upper division rates.

** The Minnesota Technical Institutes did not charge tuition for Minnesota residents under the age of 21 prior to 1979.

*** Consumer Price Index-United States with Fiscal Year 1978=100.0. Inflation Rate for fiscal year 1989 were assumed to be 4.1 percent. University of Minnesota and the Technical Institute System had moderate increases.

The tuition increases in all but one public system exceeded increases in Minnesota per capita personal income increase between 1971 and 1989. Per capita personal income rc 57.0 percent in constant dollars during that period. The tu fon increase of 35.3 percent in the Community College System was slightly less than the increase in income. Undergraduate increases in other systems exceeded income by 8.5 to 59.5 percent. Graduate and professional increases exceeded income by 12.0 to 114.5 percent.

State University and Community College System tuition decreases between 1971 and 1978 appear to have been the result of constant dollar increases in the level of state appropriations per student (MHEC 1978, p. A16). The increases in state appropriations allowed pending levels to increase while tuition rates decreased in constant dollars.

Moderate constant dollar increases in tuition rates between 1978 and 1983 in all four public systems were likely due to the state's fiscal crises. The systems increased tuition at rates that were higher than inflation in response to several reductions in appropriations during the early 1980s. In Fiscal Year 1982, tuition rates in some systems were increased during the academic year in response to a mid-year appropriations reduction. The tuition increases allowed he systems to recover some of the lost revenue. Technical institute tuition rates were first established in 1979 for state residents under 21 years of age.

-38-

The new state tuition policy caused substantial constant dollar tuition increases between 1983 and 1986 in all four systems. The policy called for students in each system to finance a higher and more uniform percentage of the operating cost of instruction. The additional tuition revenue allowed higher system instructional spending levels.

The size of the increases between 1983 and 1986 varied among the systems and by level of instruction as a result of previous differences in the proportion of instructional costs financed by tuition and in system tuition policies. The State University System and the Technical Institute System had smaller percentages of instruction financed by tuition than the other systems in 1983. As a consequence, these systems had to raise their tuition rates more to reach expected levels of tuition revenue. The University of Minnesota adopted a system tuition policy that moves tuition rates for all collegiate units toward the system relationship of tuition to instructional cost. The consequence has been higher tuition increases in units with higher costs of instruction.

Differences in constant dollar tuition rate changes between 1986 and 1989 resulted from enrollment increases, system tuition policies, and a change in state tuition policy. The enrollment increases in the State University System and Community College System allowed those systems to adopt smaller increases in tuition rates and still generate the expected level of tuition revenue. Some undergraduate, graduate and professional rates at the University of Minnesota have increased more rapidly than others because of the system tuition policy discussed above. Tuition

-39-

rates in the Technical Institute System increased in constant dollars between 1986 and 1989 as a result of an increase in the percentage of instruction expected to be financed by tuition revenue.

Required Fees. Undergraduate required fee rates decreased in constant dollars between 1971 and 1989. The decreases ranged from 6.7 percent to 44.6 percent, as shown in Table 8. These fees generally finance expenditures for student activities or services that are not part of the operating cost of instruction. Examples of functions supported by required fees include student unions, student health services, student publications, and recreational sports. The decreases in required fees suggest that expenditures for student activities have risen more slowly than consumer prices.

HEGIS Data

This subsection presents data on trends in average undergraduate and graduate tuition and fee rates for Minnesota and other U. S. public post-secondary institutions in each of five classifications.

Average Tuition Rates. Public tuition and fee rates in Minnesota and similar non-Minnesota institutions decreased in constant dollars between 1978 and 1982, as shown in Table 9. The decreases in Minnesota institutions ranged from 2.8 to 11.1 percent. The non-Minnesota decreases ranged from 3.4 to 12.3 percent.

Although tuition and fee rates for all Minnesota and non-Minnesota classifications rose in constant dollars between 1982

-40-

Table 8 Full-Time Undergraduate Required Student Fees In Current and Constant Dollars for Minnesota Public Systems** Fiscal Years 1978, 1983, 1986, and 1989

System	Current	Constant Dollars*			
Fiscal Year	Fees	Fees	Pct. Change From 1971	Pct. Change From 1978	
University of I	linnesota				
1971	\$123	\$194	-	-	
1978	\$165	\$165	-15.0%	-	
1983	\$224	\$143	-26.4%	-13.4%	
19 86	\$273	\$157	-19.0%	-4.7%	
1989	\$312	\$162	-16.5%	-1.8%	
State Universit	ty System***				
1971	\$ 90	\$142	_	-	
1978	\$135	\$135	-4.9%	-	
1983	\$195	\$124	-12.4%	-7.9%	
1986	\$227	\$131	-7.9%	-3.2%	
1989	\$255	\$132	-6.7%	-1.9%	
Community Colle	ege System				
1971	\$60	\$95	-	-	
1978	\$79	\$79	-16.5%	-	
1983	\$74	\$47	-50.1%	-40.3%	
1986	\$90	\$52	-45.3%	-34.4%	
198 9	\$101	\$52	-44.6%	-33.6%	

SOURCE: Minnesota Department of Finance * The U.S. Consumer Price Index was used as a deflator with 1978 = 100. The inflation rate for 1989 was assumed to be 4.1 percent. ** The Technical Institute System has no required student fees. *** Values are the maximum fee that could be charged.

Table 9 Average Full-Time Resident Undergraduate and Graduate Tuition and Required Fees In Constant Dollars* Minnesota Public Institutions and Other Public Institutions in the United States By Institutional Classification Fiscal Years 1978, 1982, and 1985

	Min	nesota	Non-Minnesota		
Classification And Fiscal Year	Tuition and Fees	Pct. Change From 1978	Tuition and Fees	Pct. Change From 1978	
RESEARCH UNIVERSITIES-	Undergraduate				
1978	\$1,566	-	\$1,243	-	
1982	\$1,420	-9.3%	\$1,164	-6.4%	
1985	\$1,800	15.0%	\$1,423	14.5%	
ESEARCH UNIVERSITIES-	Graduate				
1978	\$1,723	-	\$1,365	-	
1982	\$1,670	-3.1%	\$1,300	-4.8%	
1985	\$2,412	40.0%	\$1,636	19.9%	
OMPREHENSIVE INSTITUT	TONS-Undergradu	ate			
1978	\$1,101	-	\$1,005	-	
1982	\$979	-11.1%	\$ 89 7	-10.8%	
1985	ψ 1,490	35.3%	\$1,072	6.7%	
COMPREHENSIVE INSTITUT	TONS-Graduate				
1978	\$1,169	-	\$1,140	-	
1982	\$1,055	-9.7%	\$1,000	-12.3%	
1985	\$1,503	28.6%	\$1,207	5.9%	
ENERAL BACCALAUREATE	INSTITUTIONS-Un	dergraduate			
1978	\$1,128	-	\$1,039	-	
1 982	\$1,02 9	-8.8%	\$966	-7.0%	
19 85	\$1,495	32.5%	\$1,143	10.0%	

Tastitutions 1	Minnesota		Non-Minnesota		
Classification and Fiscal Year	Tuition and Fees	Pct. Change From 1978	Tuition and Fees	Pct. Change From 1978	
TWO-YEAR ACADEMIC-COMPREHENSIVE INSTITUTIONS					
1978	\$ 865	-	\$ 556	-	
19 82	\$776	-10.2%	\$ 49 3	-11.2%	
1985	\$1,108	28.1%	\$571	2.7%	
TWO-YEAR OCCUPATIONAL INSTITUTIONS					
1978	\$1,334	-	\$672	-	
1982	\$1,297	-2.8%	\$649	-3.4%	
19 85	\$1,699	27.3%	\$754	12.2%	

SOURCE: IPEDS Institutional Characteristics Survey * The Consumer Price Index-United States was used as a deflator With 1985 = 100.

and 1985, the Minnesota public institutions had much larger increases than similar non-Minnesota institutions. The non-Minnesota tuition rates, as a percent of the 1978 levels, ranged from 2.7 to 19.9 percent. Constant dollar percentage increases in average tuition and required fee rates in most Minnesota classifications were at least double those in similar non-Minnesota classifications.

The constant dollar decreases in tuition and required fee rates observed in both the Minnesota and non-Minnesota institutions between 1978 and 1982 were apparently due to rapid increases in the Consumer Price Index. Wittstruck and Bragg (p. 10) found that annual increases in the CPI exceeded increases in average tuition and fees by several percentage points in four-year public institutions between 1979 and 1981.

The constant dollar increases in tuition and fee rates observed in both the Minnesota and non-Minnesota institutions between 1982 and 1985 were apparently the result of the recession and an increased reliance on tuition revenue for financing public institutions. The revenue approach to state tuition policy suggests that tuition rates are increased when state appropriation increases are insufficient to finance desired spending levels. Thirty-eight percent of the states reported tuition increases in response to budget reductions that occurred during Fiscal Year 1983 (ECS, p. 34). More than half of the State Higher Education Executive Officers (SHEEOs) surveyed in 1988 responded that tuition increases in recent years have been necessary to compensate for decreases in state support (Mingle p. 23). Some evidence

-44-

suggests that the increased reliance on tuition revenue for financing public institutions is a long term trend rather than simply a response to the recession. Seventy percent of the SHEEOs responding to the Mingle survey reported a significant change in their state's tuition policy in the last 10 years (p. 9). More than 50 percent said that recent tuition and fee increases have been part of a conscious strategy to increase the share of costs paid by students (p. 23). An analysis prepared by Research Associates of Washington suggests that states have increased their reliance on tuition revenue for financing instructional costs between 1978 and 1988 (1988a, p. 102). The national average figure for tuition as a percent of instructional revenue increased from 20.7 to 23.6 percent. Although some of the increase occurred during the recession, there was a decrease in reliance on tuition in 1985 and an increase between 1985 and 1988.

The much larger constant dollar increases in tuition and fee rates in Minnesota public institutions reflect the more severe impact of the recession and a substantial increase in reliance on tuition revenue relative to other states. The relatively more severe impact of the recession was discussed earlier. The increase in reliance on tuition revenue is documented by the Research Associates of Washington tuition measure. Minnesota increased its reliance on tuition revenue from 20.1 percent of instructional revenue in 1982 to 24.9 percent in 1985.

-45-

FINANCIAL AID

Recent trends in undergraduate need-based financial aid are esented in this section. Coord ating Board data were used to chamine trends between Fiscal Year. 1979 and 1988. Data collected by the National Association of State Scholarship and Grant Programs (NASSGP) were used to compare trends in the Minnesota State Scholarship and Grant Program with trends in all state programs.

Coordinating Board Data

The constant dollar increase in aggregate undergraduate financial aid awards greatly exceeded enrollment increases between Fiscal Years 1979 and 1988. The increases in awards ranged from 42.2 to 205.6 percent while changes in undergraduate fall headcount enrollments ranged from -3.4 to 117.3 percent, as shown in Table 10. The financial aid increases reflect the redesign of the State Scholarship and Grant Program and the significant funding increases that were implemented in 1984 and 1985 to offset tuition increases. As a consequence of these changes, the initial tuition increases were offset for most full-time undergraduate students from lower and lower middle income families (MHECB, 1985, pp. 81-8). The net effect of the change in tuition and financial aid policies was to expect students from middle and upper income families to pay a larger share of the operating cost of instruction.

National Association of State Scholarship and Grant Programs Data

Constant dollar total awards in state scholarship and grant programs, both in Minnesota and in the United States, decreased between 1979 and 1983 and increased between 1983 and 1988.

-46-

Table 10 Combined State Scholarship and Grant and Pell Awards Fall Undergraduate Headcount Enrollments and Percent Change In Constant Dollars for Minnesota Public Systems Fiscal Years 1979, 1983, 1986, and 1988

System	Constant	Percent	Undergraduate Headcount	
Fiscal Year Awards*		From 1979	Number	Pct. Change From Fall 1978
University of	Minnesota**			
1 979	\$12,903,883	-	44,513	-
19 83	\$12,259,906	-5.0%	47,354	6.4%
1 986	\$16,757,749	29.98	44,652	0.3%
19 88	\$18,372,958	42.4%	42,992	-3.4%
State Univers	ity System**			
19 79	\$12,581,127	-	34,687	-
1 983	\$11,977,681	-4.8%	40,454	16.6%
1 986	\$21,077,504	67.5%	42,071	21.3%
1988	\$22,936,753	82.3%	48,307	39.3%
Community Col	lege System***			
1 979	\$4,954,839	-	21,042	-
1 983	\$4,632,954	-6.5%	28,033	33.2%
1 986	\$12,184,847	145.9%	3 9, 058	85.6%
1988	\$14,914,980	201.0%	45,725	117.3%
Technical Ins	titute System**			
1979	\$8,687,215	-	27,291	-
1983	\$8,215,447	-5.4%	31,786	16.5%
1986	\$24,613,339	,183.3%	40,166	47.2%
1988	\$26,546,484	205.6%	33,613	23.2%

SOURCE: Minnesota Higher Education Coordinating Board * The Consumer Price Index was used as a deflator with 1988 = 100. Awards for fiscal year 1988 are estimated. ** Excludes extension enrollments. *** Excludes extension enrollments for fall 1978. Between 1979 and 1983, total awards in Minnesota decreased by 8.0 percent while total U. S. awards decreased by 15.2 percent, as shown in Table 11. Minnesota total awards increased significantly between 1983 and 1988, reaching 60.0 percent of the 1979 level. Total U. S. awards rose substantially from the low point in 1983, reaching 6.4 percent above 1979 levels by 1988.

The number of awards in state scholarship and grant programs, rose dramatically in Minnesota and modestly in the United States between 1979 and 1988. Minnesota awards rose by 117.4 percent while U. S. awards rose by 7.9 percent.

The trends observed in state scholarship and grant programs between 1979 and 1988 were likely the result of rapid inflation, the economic recession, state financial aid policy changes, and significant funding increases in some state programs. The constant dollar decreases in total awards between 1979 and 1983 were probably due to the effects of the recession on state spending and the rapid inflation that occurred between 1979 and 1982. The significant increases in number of awards and total awards in Minnesota resulted from the redesign of the state program and the increases in funding discussed above. The growth observed in United States total awards between 1983 and 1989 appears to be, in part, the result of significant growth in several of the largest state programs. Nine of the 13 largest state programs grew by 84 percent between 1983 and 1988 (Reeher and Davis, p. 134).

-48-

Table 11 Total Awards and Number of Awards for Undergraduate State Scholarship and Grant Programs Based on Need In Constant Dollars for Minnesota and the United States Fiscal Years 1979, 1983, 1986, and 1988

Minnesota		United States		
Fiscal Year	Constant Dollar Awards*	Percent Change From 1979	Constant Dollar Awards*	Percent Change From 1979
1979	\$37,489,002	_	\$1,335,394,247	_
1983	\$34,494,687	-8.0%	\$1,132,842,975	-15.2%
1986	\$48,440,895	29.2%	\$1,314,609,159	-1.6%
1988**	\$60,000,000	60.0%	\$1,421,085,000	6.4%

Fiscal year	Number Of Awards	Percent Change From 1979	Number Of Awards	Percent Change From 1979
1979	30,356	-	1,217,750	_
1983	45,283	49.2%	1,249,800	2.6%
1986	55,858	84.0%	1,302,911	7.0%
1988**	6 6, 000	117.4%	1,314,507	7.9%

SOURCE: National Association of State Scholarship and Grant Programs, 11th, 15th, 18th, and 19th Annual Surveys, Academic Years 1979-1980, 1983-1984, 1986-1987 and 1987-1988.

* The Consumer Price Index was used as a deflator with 1988=100.

** The 1988 data are estimated.

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Two objectives of this study were to examine recent trends in post-secondary institutions' operating cost of instruction, tuition rates, and financial aid and to explain the reasons for the observed trends. The analysis found that post-secondary costs in Minnesota public systems have decreased in constant dollars, and that tuition rates and financial aid awards increased substantially in constant dollars. Several reasons for the trends were discussed. The impacts of the trends on the quality and amount of instructional and support services were not assessed. Specific findings and conclusions regarding cost and tuition trends included the following:

Cost Trends

- o The prices of goods and services purchased by post-secondary institutions grew much faster than prices in the U.S. economy and slightly faster than the prices of consumer goods and services between 1978 and 1989.
- o Minnesota per capita personal income grew more rapidly than the consumer and higher education prices be ween 1978 and 1989.
- Constant dollar costs per student in the Minnesota public systems decreased between 1978 and 1983. The decreases were due primarily to state funding policies, the state's fiscal crises, and double digit inflation.
- o Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems returned to 1978 levels by 1986. The increases were apparently the result of a change in state financing policies and stable or declining enrollments.
- Constant dollar costs per student in the public systems decreased in three systems after 1986. The decreases since 1986 apparently were caused by enrollment increases and the two year lag in the funding policy.
- Minnesota public institutions generally had larger decreases in constant dollar expenditures per student than similar non-Minnesota institutions between 1978 and 1983. The larger

-50-

decreases in Minnesota were probably due to the more severe effect of the recession on the state and a state funding policy that did not provide substantial additional state appropriations for enrollment growth.

- o Expenditures for support programs including academic support, student services, institutional support, and physical plant operations, have constituted an increasing proportion of the operating cost of instruction in the State University System and Community College System.
- A national study found that post-secondary student services and institutional support costs rose more rapidly than educational and general costs. The provision of more and better services, the use of more sophisticated and specialized management and finance staff, and compliance with increased government requirements were reasons suggested to explain the increases.
- o Debt service for the public systems constitutes a substantial proportion of the state's support for post-secondary education. Capital costs may increase more rapidly in the future as a result of deferred maintenance.

Tuition and Fee Trends

- o Tuition increases in all four public systems between 1971 and 1989 exceeded increases in Minnesota per capita personal income.
- o Tuition rates in all four Minnesota public systems rose moderately in constant dollars between 1978 and 1983. The moderate increases were due to the state's fiscal crises.
- o Tuition rates in all four systems rose substantially in constant dollars between 1983 and 1986. The substantial increases were the result of the new state tuition policy.
- o Tuition rates in the public systems rose more slowly between 1986 and 1989 than during earlier periods and the increases varied by system and level of instruction. Variations in tuition rate changes between 1986 and 1989 were the result of enrollment increases, system tuition policies and a change in state tuition policy for the Technical Institute System.
- o Required fee rates in the Minnesota public post-secondary systems remained stable or decreased in constant dollars between 1978 and 1989. The decreases suggested that expenditures for student activities rose more slowly than consumer prices.
- o Minnesota public institutions had much larger increases than similar non-Minnesota institutions in constant dollar tuition and fee rates between 1982 and 1985. The larger increases

in Minnesota institutions reflected the more severe impact of the recession on Minnesota and Minnesota's substantial increase in reliance on tuition revenue relative to other states.

- Undergraduate financial aid rose much more rapidly in constant dollars than enrollments between 1980 and 1988. These increases reflected the redesign of the State Scholarship and Grant Program and the significant funding increase that were implemented in 1984 and 1985 to offset tuition increases.
- Constant dollar total awards in state scholarship and grant programs, both in Minnesota and in the United States, decreased between 1979 and 1983. The decreases were likely the result of rapid inflation and the economic recession.
- o Constant dollar total awards in state scholarship and grant programs, both in Minnesota and in the United States, increased between 1983 and 1988. The increases were apparently due to state financial aid policy changes and significant funding increases in some state programs.

FOOTNOTES

- Education Commission of the States, <u>Working Paper No. 1</u>, <u>The</u> <u>Effect of State Budget Reductions on Higher Education</u>, <u>Fiscal</u> <u>Year 1982-83</u>. Denver, December 1983.
- Evangelauf, Jean, "Construction Boom Seen on Campuses over Next 5 Years," The Chronicle of Higher Education. July 29, 1987.
- McKeown, Mary P., "The Use of Formulas for State Funding of Higher Education." Journal of Education Finance, Vol. 7, Winter 1982.
- Mingle, James R. and Catherine Walker, <u>State Incentive Programs</u> for Graduate Education: A Survey of States. State Higher Education Executive Officers, Denver, December 1985.
- Minnesota Higher Education Coordinating Board, <u>A Review of Tuition</u> <u>Alternatives for Minnesota Post-Secondary Education</u>. St. Paul, August 18, 1978.
- Minnesota Higher Education Coordinating Board, <u>Report to the</u> Governor and 1985 Legislature. St. Paul, 1985.
- Reeher, Kenneth R. and Jerry S. Davis, <u>National Association of</u> <u>State Scholarship and Grant Programs 19th Annual Survey</u> <u>Report, 1987-88 Academic Year</u>. Pennsylvania Higher Education Assistance Agency, Harrisburg, January 1988.
- Research Associates of Washington, <u>Higher Education Prices and</u> <u>Price Indexes: 1988 Update</u>. Washington, D. C., September, 1988b.
- Research Associates of Washington, <u>State Profiles: Financing</u> <u>Public Higher Education 1978 to 1988</u>. Washington, D. C., July, 1988a.
- Snyder, Thomas P. and Eva C. Galambos, <u>Higher Education</u> <u>Administrative Costs: Continuing the Study</u>. Office of Education Improvement, United States Department of Education, Washington, D. C., January, 1988.
- Wittstruck, John R. and Stephen M. Bragg, Focus on Price Trends in Public Higher Education: Tuition and State Support. Denver, State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.
CHAPTER IV. STRATEGIES FOR CONTAINING COSTS AND TUITION RATES

The analysis in this study suggested two broad conclusions. First, per student costs in three of the Minnesota public postsecondary systems have decreased. Second, although tuition rates grew rapidly from 1978 to 1986, increased state and federal financial aid helped offset those increases, and the rate of increase in tuition has slowed since 1986. These trends do not suggest the need for additional state measures to contain growth in costs and tuition rates.

Several factors do, however, suggest the need for a review of strategies that are or could be used to contain growth in costs and tuition rates. Continued upward pressure on costs is reasonably certain. All four public systems are requesting increases, some substantial in their base spending levels. They cite reasons such as the need to regain lost spending power in faculty salaries, the need to provide more and better instructional and support services to a more diverse student body, and the need to upgrade instructional equipment. Meanwhile, there is continued pressure to restrain increases in state spending and tuition. Efforts to raise taxes meet with resistance. System and student representatives argue against significant tuition rate increases. The state's current level of support for public post-secondary education, relative to its available resources, ranks above the national average (Research Associates of Washington, 1988b, p. 60). The state's level of support on a per student basis, however, is equal to the national average and has decreased in the last ten years.

-55-

The state's high level of taxation and the perennial efforts to hold down taxes raise questions about the state's ability to provide substantial increases in support. These conflicting trends suggest that admitioner revenues may not be sufficient to finance desired spending increases.

This chapter identifies several strategies that the state and in some instances, the systems and institutions currently do use or could use to contain growth in post-secondary costs and tuition rates.

COST CONTAINMENT DEFINED

Cost containment may be one way to provide expanded and/or improved post-secondary education services if sufficient additional revenues are not available. Cost containment is defined in this paper as the operation of an activity with a lower level of expenditures than was previously the case, without altering the volume or quality of the activity. The lower expenditures are the result of changes in the way the activity is conducted. The lower level of expenditures resulting from a cost containment activity may mean that the institution, system, or state spends less in total than it otherwise would have spent. Alternatively, the revenues made available by lower spending for one purpose may be used for other post-secondary education purposes within the institution, the system, or the state. The restraining influence of cost containment on expenditures also would be reflected in tuition rates.

-56-

-57-

STRATEGIES FOR CONTAINING COSTS AND TUITION RATES

The health care sector of the economy has made extensive efforts to contain costs. Morgan argues that the health care cost containment experience provides insights that are useful for post secondary education (p. 279). He cites similarities between postsecondary institutions and hospitals in organization, goals, and incentives. Morgan identifies three broad strategies used in health care cost containment that may suggest approaches to postsecondary education cost containment. They include coordination and planning, regulatory strategies, and market strategies. A fourth strategy is the use of incentives to encourage cost containment efforts (Ohio Board of Regents, p. 9). The strategies can be pursued through several programs or efforts, some with the specific objective of influencing costs and others with broader objectives. Although the strategies are discussed in terms of state level application, many also could be pursued at system or institutional levels. The strategies are described and examples of how they are or might be pursued are discussed in this subsection.

Central Planning and Coordination

This strategy uses central planning and coordination to influence post-secondary costs and ultimately tuition rates. The objective is to alter patterns of resource use and the nature, extent, number, and distribution of post-secondary instructional and support programs. Planning, program review, and budget review are examples of efforts that could be used to pursue this strategy.

Planning. Central planning in the health care sector consisted of developing statewide policies and priorities, which served as a guideline for preparation and review of regional plans. The regional lag in turn were used in resolving proposed capital expenditures. The objectives of the manning process were to avoid duplication of facilities and c sequently promote cost containment (Morgan, pp. 244-5). A s_milar state level planning process could be added to the capital budgeting process for the public post-secondary systems. Existing system level reviews of capital budget requests could be coordinated with the state plan. To the extent that the process reduced duplication and improved resource use, capital costs, operating costs, and ultimately tuition rates could be contained. According to Morgan, however, planning has had limited success containing health care costs and consequently is losing favor as a cost containment approach (p. 291).

<u>Program Review.</u> State level post-secondary program review typically consists of a process that examines proposed or current academic instructional programs. The process usually is organized under a state coordinating board. The Coordinating Board's program review function examines, and approves or disapproves proposed and existing instructional programs. The process determines if the programs duplicate others and if they are consistent with the system or institution's capabilities and mission. System governing boards review and must give tentative approval to proposed programs prior to their submission to the Coordinating Board's process. Advocates of program review contend that the

-58-

process helps to reduce program duplication and therefore contain post-secondary costs. Its effectiveness may not come as much through program decisions as through the effect that the existence of the process has on system and institutional planning.

Budget Review. State level post-secondary budget review typically consists of a formal role for the state coordinating board in the state budget process. The role may be advisory or it may be the development of the executive budget recommendations for post-secondary education. In many ways, the state level budget review role is analogous to the system board's role. The primary objective of a budget review function is to influence gubernatorial and legislative funding decisions and ultimately the levels and distribution of system funding. One outcome of this influence could be more effective resource use and cost containment. Although the Coordinating Board has budget review authority, it has not exercised this authority in the context of the state's biennial budget process. The effectiveness of budget review in constraining post-secondary costs is uncertain.

Regulatory Strategy

This strategy uses mandates and regulations to influence post-secondary costs and consequently tuition rates. Fiscal limitations, peer reviews, and mandated cost containment efforts are examples of regulatory strategies.

<u>Fiscal Limitations.</u> Fiscal limitations influence or mandate maximum levels of or maximum changes in post-secondary expenditures or funding. The limits may be applied in the aggregate or at some level of disaggregation. They are typically part of a

-59-

funding policy and serve to limit funding liability. Such limitations also could be used by the systems on institutional spending and by institutions on unit spending.

The amount of state appropriations for instruction provided by the legislature to the Minnesota public systems has substantial influence over the level of instructional spending and consequently tuition revenue and rates. The level of appropriations for instruction is determined by the average cost funding policy and decisions on other instructional spending requests. The level of state appropriations together with expected tuition revenue establishes an instructional spending level. That level is the maximum that will be recognized for funding in the following biennium. The policy takes that maximum as a starting point and allows certain expenditure changes. The changes are those that result from changes in the volume and mix of instruction by level and program cost category and changes in price. Additional changes in the level of expenditures must be justified separately. This limitation clearly serves to contain growth in public postsecondary costs that are funded by the state. The limitation's effects on total costs and tuition rates are less direct. Although additional instructional expenditures may be incurred, other sources of revenue must be secured to finance them. Tuition revenue may be raised in excess of expected levels, but there could be adverse political consequences if such increases became a routine practice.

Incremental appropriation reductions are another means of influencing levels of post-secondary spending. Minnesota used

-60-

this strategy during its fiscal crises in the early 1980s. Although the incremental reductions did contain or reduce expenditures, they also shifted more responsibility for funding expenditures to students.

<u>Peer Reviews.</u> This approach would call for reviews of resource allocation decisions by a group of peers. The objective is to contain costs and ultimately tuition rates by influencing resource use. Peer review was used extensively for cost containment in health care. Peers would review decisions about the type and extent of health care provided by hospitals. Morgan suggested the accreditation process and peer involvement in program review as prototypes for a peer based review of postsecondary programs and costs. Such reviews may risk conflict with system, institutional, and faculty prerogatives.

Mandated Cost Containment. This approach would require postsecondary systems or institutions to develop and implement efforts to contain their costs. The mandate might specify the dedication of resources to develop containment efforts. Alternatively, the mandate might specify amounts of savings to be generated. A third option would be to specify specific measures to be implemented. While this approach conceivably could contain costs, it is not consistent with generally accepted views of state and system roles in Minnesota post-secondary education. The state role is primarily funding and establishing policy. The system and institutional role is managing institutional operations.

-61-

Market Strategy

This strategy calls for the use of increased market forces on post-secondary institutions in order to influence their costs. The strategy seeks to increase competition among post-secondary institutions by increasing the number of students who are able to enroll, expanding their choices among institutions, and making them more sensitive to price. Examples include financial aid and cost related tuition.

Financial Aid. Need-based financial aid provides access to post-secondary education for more individuals and allows them greater choice among public and private institutions and programs. This expansion in the number of students and in their opportunities increases the competitive forces on institutions. The institutions have increased incentives to offer the best possible programs for the best prices. The federal Pell Grant Program and Minnesota's Scholarship and Grant Program are examples of the use of financial aid to increase market forces on institutions. The effectiveness of financial aid in constraining costs and tuition rates is uncertain. Some even argue that the result of financial aid is higher post-secondary costs and tuition rates, since increases can more easily be passed along.

<u>Cost Related Tuition.</u> This approach calls for students in public institutions to pay a larger share of the cost of providing instruction and for tuition rates to more accurately reflect differences in the cost of providing instruction. Paying a larger share of the costs makes students more sensitive to price. Relating price to cost helps students compare the relative benefits of

-62-

programs with their relative costs. This greater sensitivity to price and price differences presumably provides systems and institutions an incentive to restrain growth in costs and consequently tuition. Minnesota's tuition policy relates price to cost at the system level and expects students to pay a larger share of costs than they did previously. The University of Minnesota Board of Regents has implemented a similar policy for individual collegiate units. The effectiveness of this tuition policy in constraining growth in costs and tuition rates in the long run is uncertain. Some also might argue that the increased competition may lead to higher costs as a result of additional programs and services added by institutions in order to compete.

Incentive Strategy

This strategy calls for the provision of incentives, usually financial, to encourage systems and institutions to engage in cost containment efforts. The incentive may take the form of funds provided for the support of cost containment efforts in general or to support specific projects. Alternatively, systems and institutions might be allowed to retain savings generated through cost containment efforts. The latter provision is part of the state's financing policy for the public post-secondary systems. The systems retain funds left unexpended at the end of a biennium. Some systems have extended this provision to the institutional level. The effectiveness of this strategy in constraining growth in costs and tuition rates in the long run is uncertain.

-63-

CONCLUSIONS

Four broad strategies to contain post-secondary costs and tuition rates have been described. Minnesota has a program or mechanism in place that uses each strategy. The Coordinating Board's program review process serves as a planning and coordination strategy, and its budget review process could serve a similar purpose. The fiscal limitations that are part of the state's financing policy for the public post-secondary systems, a regulatory strategy, is probably the most effective method available to influence costs and tuition rates. The state's financial aid and tuition policies contain aspects of the market strategy for influencing costs and tuition rates. Finally, the provision that allows systems to retain unexpended funds is an example of the incentive strategy.

FOOTNOTES

- Morgan, Anthony W., "Cost as a Policy Issue." Journal of Higher Education, 54, May/June 1983.
- Ohio Board of Regents, <u>A Cost Containment Strategic Study</u>. Deloitte, Haskins and Sells, 1978.
- Research Associates of Washington, <u>Higher Education Prices and</u> <u>Price Indexes: 1988 Update</u>. Washington, D. C., September, 1988b.

APPENDIX A. INFLUENCES ON POST-SECONDARY COSTS AND TUITION RATES

This appendix contains a detailed discussion of the influences on post-secondary costs and tuition rates that was summarized in Chapter II.

INFLUENCES ON POST-SECONDARY COSTS

There are many influences that affect post-secondary institutions' costs of instruction at many levels. This section contains a discussion of those influences. A paper by Paul Brinkman of the National Center for Higher Education Management Systems serves as the basis for the review. The paper was prepared for the State Higher Education Executive Officers.

Brinkman developed a conceptual framework that is useful in understanding the influences on costs. At the most basic level, post-secondary costs are a product of the mix, volume, and the price of inputs. Brinkman identifies three sources of influence on the mix, volume, and price of post-secondary inputs. The influences are those of the institution itself, the higher education community, and the external environment. He identifies cultural and material conditions within each level of influence that affect costs. Culture represents the predominant set of values, attitudes, and norms that influence the operation of the institution. Material conditions represent the physical state of affairs, the structures, and the relationships within which the institution operates. This subsection contains a description of Brinkman's framework, influences identified by Brinkman, and examples from Minnesota public post-secondary education that illustrate influences on costs.

Institutional Influences

Influences within post-secondary institutions have the most direct impact on costs, according to Brinkman. System influences on institutions costs are treated as institutional influences.

Institutional Cultural Conditions. An institution's values, attitudes, and norms can influence its costs. Institutions that place a high value on equality of educational opportunity may have high recruitment and/or financial aid costs. An institution that aspires to achieve high national ranking in a particular program is likely to have higher than average costs in that program.

Institutional Material Conditions. Brinkman identified the mission, the size and nature of student body, the physical plant, the revenues available, system and institutional financing policies, system governance structures, and institutional management practices as material conditions that influence costs.

An institution's relative emphasis on instruction, research, and public service as well as its specialization within each of these areas affects its costs. Institutions engaging heavily in research, such as the University of Minnesota, tend to be more

demic instruction, such as some Minnesota community colleges, tend to be less expensive. The difference is due in part to the number and type of faculty employed. The research expectation is typically reflected in the type of faculty employed, in their instructional workloads, and in their salaries.

-A2-

An institution's costs of instruction are affected by the number and mix of disciplines offered and the number and level of degree and support programs offered. Some disciplines are more expensive to offer because of factors such as equipment requirements or market conditions for faculty. Instruction at the graduate level tends to require smaller classes and consequently more faculty per student than does the undergraduate level. The type and number of support services offered also is a significant influence on cost. The size of library holdings, the extent of counseling and guidance services, and the number of administrative staff vary significantly and affect costs.

The size and nature of the student body influence costs according to Brinkman. Larger enrollments generally mean lower costs per student as a result of economies of scale. A more diverse student body has had cost impacts on the Minnesota public systems. Students who have not taken college preparatory instruction in high school usually need such instruction before taking college level courses. More support services usually are required for students from disadvantaged backgrounds and for older students who may never have attended a post-secondary institution or who are returning after a long absence. The additional support services typically mean higher costs.

The size, age, location, and condition of an institution's physical plant affect its costs. Larger and older plants tend to be more expensive to operate. Minnesota's climate, for example, means that institutions have higher heating and snow removal costs than many other institutions in the United States. As many insti-

-A3-

tutions are now discovering, the level of maintenance or lack of it can dramatically affect operating and capital costs.

Bowen (pp. 17-23) argues that in the short run, an institution's available revenues per student determine its costs. The cost per student is a function of available revenue and enrollment according to this "revenue" theory of cost. Since institutions tend to maximize revenue from all sources, their costs are determined by their success in raising revenue, according to Bowen. Consequently, costs are determined by students, federal, state and local governments, private entities, and individuals who contribute to institutions. Public institutions' costs are determined primarily by state and local government decisionmakers. The factors identified by Brinkman that influence costs would act on the revenue providers, according to Bowen's theory. As a result of the widely dispersed influence on revenues, no single entity controls post-secondary costs.

System allocation policies and institutional budgeting practices influence a post-secondary institution's costs. The Community College System and the State University System allocation policies, for example, provide a minimum allocation to each institution, regardless of its enrollments. The Community College System allocation policy also provides fewer instructional staff for each additional increment of students. These features result in allocations per student and consequently costs per student in large institutions that are smaller than those in small institutions. Similarly, institutional budgeting practices

-A4-

influence costs by determining the amount of revenue available to each campus unit.

System governance structures also influence costs. The Minnesota Technical Institute System provides an example of how a governance structure can influence costs. Although the system is governed by a state board, the institutes are operated by local school districts. The school districts typically negotiate a collective bargaining agreement that covers elementary, secondary, and technical institute faculty. Compensation increases tend to be related to increases in state aid for elementary and secondary education. State aid, however, has increased more rapidly than state appropriations for public post-secondary education. Consequently, technical institutes' faculty compensation is rising faster than their available revenues.

Post-Secondary Community Influences

Post-secondary institutions are members of a community of institutions and other post-secondary education organizations. The community influences institutions' costs.

<u>Community Cultural Conditions.</u> Values, attitudes, and norms espoused within the post-secondary education community influence individual institution's costs. Brinkman contends that a primary cultural influence of the community is exerted through disciplines. Faculty members trained in a particular discipline typically adopt the common values and attitudes of that discipline regarding what should be taught and how it should be taught. These common values and attitudes tend to exert influence on the organization and content of instruction in that discipline and

-A5-

consequently its costs, wherever it is offered. The extent of influence depends upon other cultural influences within the institution and the type of institution. Doctoral research institutions are likely to have stronger discipline related influence than institutions offering lower division transfer instruction. Accrediting agencies, in fields where they exist, often exert influence similar to that of disciplines. A final post-secondary community influence identified by Brinkman is that of norms for working conditions. Teaching and research expectations, and consequently costs, are influenced by the post-secondary community.

Community Material Conditions. Material conditions such as the current knowledge base within disciplines, instructional technologies, relations among institutions, and post-secondary education organizations affect institution's costs, according to Brinkman. An increase in the knowledge base within a discipline may mean new courses and additional faculty. Changes in instructional technology could mean increases or decreases in costs, depending on the nature of the change and how it is implemented. The current state of relations among post-secondary institutions is best characterized by competition. Minnesota's financing policies for post-secondary education encourage competition through enrollment related funding, a cost related tuition policy, and a large need-based financial aid program. Competition provides incentives for institutions to expand programs and services and/or improve their caliber and consequently increase costs. Faculty unions are the prime example of the impact of post-secondary

-A6-

organizations on institution's costs. Collective bargaining is the predominant means by which the terms and conditions of faculty employment are established in Minnesota public post-secondary education.

External Influences

The environment external to post-secondary institutions and the post-secondary education community also exerts significant influence on post-secondary institutions' costs.

External Cultural Conditions. Brinkman identifies two external cultural conditions that relate directly to post-secondary education. They are expectations for post-secondary education and the value of post-secondary education. In addition, Brinkman discusses several other conditions that affect many sectors of society, including post-secondary education.

Changes in society's expectations for post-secondary education influence costs. The expectation that a larger proportion of the population should benefit from post-secondary education is a prime example. The need to offer remedial and skills development instruction and expanded support services, such as assessment and guidance, tend to result in higher costs. Expectations that postsecondary institutions will support state economic development efforts also will tend to result in higher costs.

The value of post-secondary education to consumers, producers, and entities that finance it has a significant impact on costs. The value that individual consumers place on postsecondary education determines whether they participate and the extent of their participation. Higher participation might result

-A7-

in higher post-secondary costs due to expansion of programs and services or lower costs due to economies of scale or the inability of revenue sources to support increased particleation. The increase in part dipation relative to population in Minnesota public post-secondary education during the last decade appears to have contributed to a decrease is the level of state appropriations and tuition revenue per student (Research Associates of Washington, 1988b, pp. 80-2). The relatively high level of effort that Minnesota makes to support public post-secondary education presumably reflects the high value it places on this endeavor. Public post-secondary education costs in Minnesota are higher than they would otherwise be as a result of this effort.

Fundamental changes in society such as the civil rights and women's movements influence post-secondary costs. Here again, added services or administrative requirements may increase costs while added enrollments may reduce costs through economies of scale.

External Material Conditions. Many material conditions external to post-secondary education exert influence on postsecondary costs. The most significant of these, according to Brinkman, are government, politics, and changes in the economy, demography, and technology.

Government's financing policies and regulatory practices are its primary influences on post-secondary costs. Minnesota's average cost funding policy for the public post-secondary sector has several influences on institution's costs. The enrollment related feature of the policy provides an incentive for higher enrollments

-A8-

and higher aggregate costs. The two year lag in funding lowers costs per student as enrollments are increasing and increases them as enrollments are decreasing. The recognition of level of instruction and program cost in the policy changes costs as the distribution of students changes. Federal and state financial aid programs affect institutional costs through administrative expenditures and by influencing enrollment decisions. Federal and state environmental protection and occupational safety laws are examples of government regulations that influence institutions' costs. The Coordinating Board's program review responsibility is another example of a state regulatory function that can affect post-secondary costs by influencing which programs are initiated.

The political climate can have a substantial impact on costs. The predispositions of the party in power to support post-secondary education are likely to affect both the revenues available and the distribution of those revenues among sectors and institutions.

Economic factors including inflation, unemployment, the condition of the economy and the demand for individuals with advanced training are influences on post-secondary costs. The period of high inflation from the mid 1970s to the early 1980s clearly affected post-secondary costs. Changes in the unemployment rate tend to have a direct impact on enrollments. The Technical Institute System and, to a lesser extent, the Community College System have tended to have enrollment decreases when the unemployment rate decreases and enrollment increases when it increases. These enrollment changes in turn affect costs through changes in economies of scale and in revenues. The recession of

-A9-

the early 1980s and the resulting state fiscal crises provide a vivid example of the impact that the condition of the economy can have on costs. Several reductions in state appropriations to the Minnesota public post-secondary systems during a three year period significantly reduced their costs. Recently, increased demand for individuals with advanced traging in some primarily technical fields has necessitated higher levels of compensation in order to attract and retain faculty in these fields.

Post-secondary costs also are affected by demographic, technological, and social changes, according to Brinkman. The smaller number of individuals in the age group that post-secondary institutions traditionally have drawn from has meant enrollment decreases for some institutions. The decreases can affect costs through the loss of economies of scale. Other institutions have maintained or increased enrollments by serving individuals from other age groups with new programs that may mean higher costs. Technological changes must be incorporated into instructional and research programs in order to produce graduates with the most current knowledge of their field. Such changes generally mean higher costs. On the other hand, technological changes applied to support functions, like the automation of student records or library catalogues, may mean lower costs.

INFLUENCES ON POST-SECONDARY TUITION

There are many influences on public post-secondary education tuition rates at several levels. A framework analogous to Brinkman's is used to discuss the influences. This section contains a

-A10-

discussion of the external, community, and system and/or institutional influences.

External Influences

External influences probably have the most significant impact on public post-secondary tuition rates. They include state tuition policies, levels of state appropriations, and external cultural conditions.

State Tuition Policies. A review of the literature reveals four broad approaches used by states in setting tuition rates for their public post-secondary institutions. McKeown (p. 5) identified three approaches that typically use a predetermined relationship between tuition and another factor. The relationship often is specified in law or a formally adopted policy, although in some instances it is applied informally. The three approaches are the use of economic indices, the cost of instruction, and tuition rates at benchmark institutions to set public institution tuition rates. Curry (p. 6) describes a fourth approach as the revenue method. The distinctions between the approaches are not always clear in practice, and some states employ more than one approach.

Economic Index Approach. The first approach consists of adjusting tuition rates based on the change in a specified economic index. The index might be an index of prices such as the Consumer Price Index or the Higher Education Price Index. Alternatively, the index might measure changes in individual income such as per capita personal or disposable income. The use of such an index, if applied uniformly to all tuition rates, serves to perpetuate the relationships that existed among the

-A11-

rates when the policy was adopted. In response to a 1988 survey, 14 states reported using the Consumer Price Index, 12 reported using the Higher Education Price Index, and 7 reported using a measure of personal income either formally or informally in setting tuition rates (Mingle, p. 7).

Cost Approach. The second approach consists of establishing tuition rates or levels of tuition revenue in relationship to some measure of the cost of providing instruction. The relationship between tuition and cost and the measure of cost varies. The relationship between tuition and cost may be uniform for all students, institutions, or groups of institutions. Alternatively, the relationship may vary by level of instruction, residence status, and/or type of institution, as it does for the Minnesota systems. Some states use instructional cost and others use state appropriations as the cost measure. McKeown (p. 5) found that the cost measure typically includes direct instructional costs as well as some portion of support costs. The cost approach has the advantage of assigning specific responsibilities to students and the state for financing post-secondary costs. Ιt also can serve to reduce or eliminate inequities in state subsidies. According to Mingle (p. 5), eight states have policies that relate tuition revenue and four have policies that relate tuition rates to the cost of instruction or the level of state appropriations.

Benchmark Approach. The third approach consists of establishing tuition rates on the basis of the rates at benchmark institutions. The benchmark institutions are typically those that

-A12-

compete for students. They may be in the same geographic region or located throughout the country. While this approach may help maintain competitive tuition rates, it also places the institutional pricing decision in the hands of other institutions. Mingle (p. 7) reported that tuition levels at peer or competing institutions played a formal or informal role in 33 states' tuition setting decisions.

Revenue Approach. The fourth approach tends not to be as formally specified as the other three. This approach may employ several objective and subjective factors in setting tuition. Marks (p. 13) characterized this approach as one that sets tuition "to generate all or most of the difference between what the institutions believed they needed and what state government appropriated." Mingle (p. 5) reported that 25 states view tuition as the difference between institutional needs and state appropriations.

State Appropriations. The level of state appropriations appears to be a significant influence on tuition rates. Sixty-two percent of State Higher Education Executive Officers (SHEEOS) surveyed recently agreed that public tuition and fee rates "are driven primarily by the amount of state appropriations available in a given year" (Mingle, p. 23). This relationship can be either negative or positive.

Wittstruck and Bragg (p. 21) found that in the short term, higher increases in state appropriations were associated with smaller increases in tuition and that the reverse also was true between 1973 and 1988. One-third of the SHEEOs said increases in appropriations often are used as a rationale for "holding the

-A13-

line" on tuition increases (Mingle, p. 26). This relationship appears consistent with the state tuition policy characterized as the revenue approach. When state appropriations do not increase sufficiently to finance desired spending levels, larger tuition rate increases are used to achieve the desired level of expenditures.

Wittstruck and Bragg (p. 36) also concluded, however, that tuition rates increase with appropriations in the long term. This finding is consistent with a cost or appropriation indexed tuition policy. Increases in state appropriations are matched by tuition increases.

<u>Cultural Conditions.</u> A state's collective values and attitudes regarding post-secondary education are a significant influence on tuition rates. The extent to which a state values access to post-secondary education and the way it chooses to promote access affect tuition rates. Some states choose to promote access by maintaining tuition rates as low as possible. Others have higher tuition rates and promote access through financial aid. States' attitudes regarding the relative benefits of post-secondary education to the student and society clearly have an affect on tuition. States that consider society's benefits to be more significant are likely to have lower tuition rates than those that consider the student's benefits to be more significant.

Post-Secondary Community Influences

The post-secondary community exerts influence on public postsecondary institution's tuition rates through competition. Many

-A14-

institutions compete regionally or nationally for students. As a consequence, tuition rates charged at competing institutions are an explicit or implicit influence on an institution's tuition rates.

System and Institutional Influences

System and institutional influences include both material and cultural conditions.

System and Institutional Material Conditions. A system or institution's cost of instruction influences its tuition rates. The nature of that role depends in part upon the state tuition policy. The revenue approach, for example, calls for students to finance cost increases not financed by the state or local govern-The cost or appropriation index approach calls for the ments. state and the students to share responsibility for financing increases in cost. The mission of the institution, to the extent that it affects costs, also affects tuition rates. The wide range of undergraduate, graduate, and professional programs offered by the University of Minnesota, for example, affects its costs. As a consequence of the range of programs and their costs, undergraduate students pay higher tuition rates than they would if those programs did not exist.

System and Institutional Cultural Conditions. The values, attitudes, and norms that a system or institution holds also influence its tuition rates. The Minnesota public system governing boards have the authority to establish tuition rates, including those charged non-residents. The University of Minnesota Board of Regents, for example, has taken the position that

-A15-

tuition rates charged in each collegiate unit should be adjusted in a manner that moves them toward the systemwide average of tuition as a percent of instructional cost. This policy reflects the belief that subsidies across units fould be reduced. The governing boards of the other public systems, however, charge a uniform tuition rate for all state residents at each level of instruction. This policy reflects the belief that subsidies across programs and institutions are appropriate. All four public systems charge higher tuition rates for non-residents than for state residents. These differentials vary among systems and within systems. They reflect system values and attitudes regarding the desirability of non-resident students and the benefits that the non-resident students receive.

-A16-

FOOTNOTES

- Bowen, Howard R., <u>The Costs of Higher Education</u>. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 1980.
- Brinkman, Paul, The Cost of Providing Higher Education: A Conceptual Overview. Denver: State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.
- Curry, Denis J., <u>Tuition and Student Aid Policies: What Role For</u> <u>SHEEOS?</u>. Denver: State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.
- McKeown, Mary P., <u>State Policies on Tuition and Fees for Public</u> <u>Higher Education</u>. The Journal of Education Finance, Vol. 8, <u>Summer</u>, 1980.
- Marks, Joseph. "Tuition and Fee Rates in the SREB States: Trends and Issues," <u>Financing Higher Education</u>, Number 31. Atlanta: Southern Regional Education Board, 1987.
- Mingle, James R. <u>Survey on Tuition Policy, Costs and Student Aid.</u> Denver: State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.
- Research Associates of Washington, <u>State Profiles: Financing</u> <u>Public Higher Education 1978 to 1988</u>. Washington, D. C., July, 1988b.
- Wittstruck, John R. and Stephen M. Bragg, Focus on Price Trends in Public Higher Education: Tuition and State Support. Denver: State Higher Education Executive Officers, June, 1988.

-1 ---

APPENDIX B. DATA SOURCES AND METHODS

Several sources of data were used to examine trends in postsecondary institutions' costs, tuition rates, and available financial aid. In addition, information on several price indices is used in examining trends over time. This appendix describes the data and the methods of analysis used.

DATA SOURCES

The data sources include the Minnesota public post-secondary systems, the United States Education Department's Higher Education General Information Survey (HEGIS), Research Associates of Washington, the Coordinating Board, and the National Association of State Scholarship and Grant Programs (NASSGP). Each source is described in this section.

Systems' Data

Data on the public systems' aggregate general fund instructional expenditures, full-year equivalent or average daily membership enrollments, state supported debt service, and tuition rates were used to examine trends in their post-secondary costs and tuition rates. Although aggregate expenditure data are available for research and public service activities, there are no generally accepted volume measures that would allow an examination of per unit expenditures. Consequently, this study focuses exclusively on expenditures for instruction.

These data were obtained directly or indirectly from the systems. The expenditure, enrollment, and debt service data were

obtained from the Minnesota Department of Finance. The staff of each system prepare these data as part of their system's biennial budget request. Department of Finance staff assembled a data base in Fall 1988 that contains the expenditure, revenue, and enrollment data for each system. The Department of Finance is responsible for making the state's debt service payments. The data on tuition and required fee rates are collected annually from the systems by Coordinating Board staff.

<u>Definition.</u> The expenditure and enrollment data were used to calculate each systems' operating cost of instruction per student. Total instructional expenditures were divided by full-year equivalent and average daily membership enrollments.

The amount of instructional expenditures in a given year is determined by conducting a cost study or estimated using the results of a cost study from another year. General fund instructional expenditures are the portion of a systems' operating cost of instruction that is included in the state's accounting system and funded by the state's funding policy. In general, this category includes instructional expenditures that are supported by state appropriations and tuition revenue. Instructional expenditures supported by other sources of revenue are usually excluded. One exception is that a portion of instructional expenditures supported by federal revenue is included for the Minnesota Technical Institute System. The instructional expenditures for fiscal year 1989 are estimated.

Full-year equivalent and average daily membership enrollments are the measures of the volume of degree or certificate creditable

-B2-

instruction that are used in the state's funding policy. Fullyear equivalent enrollment equals the total number of student credit hours generated during a fiscal year divided by theoretical fiscal year full time load for each level of student. Undergraduate and professional credit hours are divided by 45 and graduate credit hours are divided by 30 to obtain full-year equivalent enrollments. Average daily membership enrollment equals the total number of hours of enrollment in Minnesota Technical Institutes divided by 1050. The denominator is the number of hours that a full time student would enroll for during three quarters. The enrollment data for fiscal year 1989 are estimated.

State debt service payments are used as an estimate of postsecondary institutions' capital cost of instruction. The available data on state debt service, however, include payments for all state financed facilities. This includes facilities that support the instruction, public service and, where relevant, research missions of the public institutions. Nor do the debt service data represent the total amount incurred by or for the public postsecondary systems. Finally, historical data on debt service are not available.

The tuition rates are the amount that a Minnesota resident student would pay if he or she enrolled for a full-time load of 15 credits at the undergraduate level or 10 credits at the graduate level in each of the three quarters during an academic year. The State University System, the Community College System, and the Technical Institute System charge one tuition rate for all resident undergraduate students. The University of Minnesota charges

-B3-

several tuition rates for resident undergraduate students. The rates used were an average of the lower and upper division rates for the unit with the lowest and highest upper division rates on the Twin Cities campus. The required fee rates are those that full-time undergraduates would pay during three quarters of an academic year.

HEGIS Data

Data on United States post-secondary institutions' expenditures, enrollments, and tuition rates were used to compare trends in costs and tuition rates for Minnesota public institutions with the trends for institutions in other states. These data are collected by the U. S. Education Department through HEGIS. HEGIS consists of several surveys that collect data on enrollments, finances, staffing, degrees granted, and institutional characteristics from post-secondary institutions in the United States. Data on institutions expenditures were obtained from the "Financial Statistics of Institutions of Higher Education" survey for fiscal years 1978, 1983, and 1986. The enrollment data were obtained from the "Fall Enrollment in Institutions of Higher Education" survey for 1977, 1982, and 1985. Data on tuition rates were obtained from the "Institutional Characteristics" survey for academic years 1977-78, 1982-83, and 1985-86.

<u>Definition</u>. The HEGIS expenditure and enrollment data were used to estimate the operating cost of instruction per student for all public institutions in the HEGIS universe.

The operating cost of instruction was estimated by summing expenditures for direct instruction and student support services

-B4-

and a portion of expenditures for academic support, institutional support and physical plant operations. The portion of these support program expenditures attributed to instruction was equal to expenditures for direct instruction as a proportion of total expenditures for direct instruction, research and public service. This calculation only approximates the operating cost of instruction. The average costs presented are a weighted average for all institutions in the category.

Full time equivalent (FTE) enrollment was estimated by adding fall term full-time headcount to one-third of fall term part-time headcount. Headcount refers to the number of individuals enrolled at a point in time. This calculation is a crude approximation of FTE since assumes that all students reported as full-time average a full-time load and that all students reported as part time average one-third of a full time load. The estimated operating cost of instruction is based on total fiscal year expenditures and fall term enrollments.

The undergraduate and graduate tuition and required fees are intended to represent typical rates as defined by the institution staff completing the HEGIS survey. The average tuition and required fee rates presented are a simple average of the rates reported by all institutions in the category.

Universe of Institutions. The HEGIS universe of institutions excludes the Minnesota Technical Institutes and most public and private post-secondary vocational institutions in the other states. The Education Department began implementation of the Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System (IPEDS) surveys in

-B5-

1986 and completed implementation in 1987. The IPEDS surveys replace the HEGIS surveys. The IPEDS universe of institutions includes all public post-secondary vocational institutions as well as all institutions included in the HEGIS universe. The majority of the data used for this study, however, were collected only for institutions in the HEGIS universe. Consequently, all Minnesota Technical Institutes are excluded from the analysis that compares cost and tuition trends in Minnesota institutions with those of institutions in other states.

Limitations. The HEGIS data have several limitations, including the universe of institutions, reporting problems, and funding differences (Maryland State Board for Higher Education, p. 1).

There are major differences among institutions in the functions that are included in the HEGIS universe. Some institutions for example, include medical schools while others report them separately. Some institutions report financial statistics for agriculture experiment stations, extension services, and research laboratories while others exclude them. System office expenditures are not reported consistently. The HEGIS universe of institutions excludes most public and private vocational and technical institutions.

Reporting practices vary from institution to institution and from state to state. HEGIS surveys allow institutions to choose one of several definitions for reporting certain items. The definitions also are subject to differing interpretations. These differences in reporting are a particular problem with enrollment

-B6-

data. Institutions do not report the same universe of students. Some institutions, for example, report extension enrollments while others do not. Some report enrollments in courses taught under contract while others do not. Institutions' classifications of students by level of instruction also may differ. The reporting differences also affect the financial data. Some institutions, as a result of their data reporting practices, are required to do several calculations in order to satisfy the requirements on the HEGIS form.

States differ in their funding practices. One state may fund certain programs directly through the institutions, while similar programs in other states may be funded from a central agency. In some states, including Minnesota, most student aid is distributed directly to students while in others it flows through institutions. Aid that flows through institutions will be reported in the HEGIS financial surveys. Some institutions fund debt service directly while others, including Minnesota, use a central agency. Fringe benefits for employees are funded through institutional accounts in some states, including Minnesota, and centrally in others. Such differences in funding practices result in inconsistent reporting of expenditures. Minnesota's post-secondary expenditures for financial aid and debt service are under reported and expenditures for fringe benefits are fully reported.

Christal, Firnberg, and LaCour, (p. 15) found three types of differences among institutions that affect comparisons of expenditures and revenues per student. First, average expenditures and revenues per full-time equivalent (FTE) student differed

-B7-

significantly depending on the definition of FTE used. The problem results from estimating FTE on the basis of headcount enrollment. Second, the assignment of expenditures to functional categories differed among instructions. Third, reacings of institutions differed with the definitions and calculations used in providing the data.

Despite these problems, the HEGIS data were used because they are the only data available for higher education institutions in the United States.

Research Associates of Washington

Data on average state and local appropriations and tuition revenue per full-year equivalent student for public post-secondary education were used to compare Minnesota revenue trends to those occurring nationally. These data were obtained from a publication by Research Associates of Washington entitled <u>State Profiles:</u> <u>Financing Public Higher Education 1978 to 1987</u>. This annual publication describes state efforts in financing public postsecondary education and presents only state level data.

Definition. The data on educational appropriations per student include all state and local appropriations for public post-secondary education but exclude identifiable appropriations for research, public service, and medical, dental and veterinary schools. An amount equal to appropriations for financial aid has been subtracted from the tuition revenue since it is included in the appropriations figure. Thus, tuition revenue per student is reduced by an amount equal to state funded financial aid. The

-B8-
full-year equivalent enrollments are calculated using student credit hours, student contact hours, and the appropriate divisors. Coordinating Board

Data on combined State Scholarship and Grant Program and Federal Pell Grant Program awards were used to examine trends in need-based financial aid available to undergraduates. These data were obtained from the spending summaries published in the Coordinating Board's biennial reports. The financial aid trends were compared to trends in undergraduate headcount enrollment. The enrollment data were obtained from the Coordinating Board annual <u>Basic Data Series</u> enrollment reports for Fall Term 1979, 1982, 1985, and 1987. The headcount data exclude extension enrollments in all four systems for fall 1979 and in all but the Community College System for fall 1982, 1985, and 1987.

Definition. The data on combined State Scholarship and Grant Program and Federal Pell Grant Program awards represent all state awards plus an estimate of the Pell awards received by state grant recipients. They do not represent all Pell grant awards. Data on awards from both programs are presented because the two programs are coordinated. The amount of the Pell award received by a state award recipient plays a significant role in determining the amount of the state award.

National Association of State Scholarship and Grant Programs

Data on total awards and number of awards for state financial aid programs were used to compare trends in the Minnesota State Scholarship and Grant Program to trends in similar programs in the United States. These data were obtained from a report published

-B9-

annually for the National Association of State Scholarship and Grant Programs.

Definition. The United States and Minnesota does on total awards and number of awards are for undergraduate need-based competitive and non-competitive state financial aid programs.

ANALYSIS

This section describes the analytic approach, the timeframe, and the institutional classification systems used in examining trends in the operating cost of instruction and tuition and fee rates.

Analytic Approach

The purpose of this study is to examine trends over time in post-secondary costs and tuition rates. The intent is not to examine levels of spending per student or to compare spending levels among institutions.

Two estimates of instructional expenditures and tuition rates are used to examine trends. The trends for the Minnesota public post-secondary systems are examined using the systems' data. These estimates of costs and the tuition and fee rates should be considered reasonably accurate. Minnesota trends are compared with those of public institutions in other states using the HEGIS data. These estimates of costs should be considered approximations because of the method of calculation and the limitations of the HEGIS data. As a result of differences in the methods and data sets used, one cannot compare the costs derived by the two methods.

-B10-

Timeframe

The timeframe chosen for a trend analysis has a significant influence on the trends observed. A difference of a few years can alter the trend dramatically. The timeframe for this study was determined primarily on the basis of data availability. Minnesota systems' data were not available for fiscal years prior to 1978 and consequently, that year became the base year. Fiscal year 1971 was chosen as a base year for the Minnesota tuition and fee data because of a readily available set of data. Although HEGIS data were available for earlier years, 1978 was chosen as a base year to be consistent with the base year for the Minnesota systems' data. Fiscal year 1986 was the most recent HEGIS data available when the data tapes were ordered. After receipt of the HEGIS data, it was discovered that the information on tuition rates for fiscal years 1983 and 1986 was actually for fiscal years 1982 and 1985 respectively. Consequently, these years are used in the comparisons of trends in Minnesota tuition rates to those in similar non-Minnesota institutions. Fiscal years 1979 and 1988 are the earliest and most recent fiscal years, respectively, for which data on combined state and Pell awards are available. Consequently, data for these years are used in examining trends in financial aid.

Institutional Classification Systems

Two different institutional classification systems are used in examining trends. One is that of the Minnesota governance structure, the four public systems. Since governance structures differ significantly among states, a second institutional

-B11-

classification system was used for the analysis of the HEGIS data. This second classification system was developed by the National Center for Higher Education Management Systems (NCHEMS). It has 10 institutional categories that range from research university to two-year occupational institution. It is used to control for differences among institutions in the types of degrees offered and the mix of study fields. This section describes the NCHEMS classification system. A list of the Minnesota public institutions in each category of the NCHEMS classification system is at the end of this appendix.

Description. The classification system used in the study was developed by the staff of the National Center for Higher Education Management Systems (NCHEMS). The system contains the following classifications (Christal, Brinkman, and Parker, 1986):

- Research Universities These institutions have a significant commitment to doctoral-level education and extensive research activities. A research university confers at least 30 doctoral-level degrees in three or more program areas on an annual basis. In addition, it must rank in the top 75 institutions in research expenditures.
- Universities These institutions fulfill the criteria for a university, but they are not as heavily involved in research activities.
- 3. Comprehensive Institutions These institutions have diverse post baccalaureate program offerings, but not significant doctoral-level education. The number of doctorates awarded is under 30 annually or there exist fewer than three doctoral level programs which are offered. These institutions must provide a minimum of 30 post baccalaureate degrees and either grant degrees in three or more post baccalaureate programs or have an interdisciplinary program at the baccalaureate level.
- 4. Two-Year Institutions These institutions confer fewer than 25 percent of their degrees at the baccalaureate level or post baccalaureate level. They also confer 75 percent of their degrees for two years of work or less. Institutions in this category may be either academic/comprehensive or occupa-

.-.- tional in nature. A two year institution is considered academic/comprehensive if 80 percent of the degrees awarded are in an academic area, otherwise it is occupational.

- 5. Health Professional Institutions These institutions confer 60 percent or more of their degrees in health science fields.
- 6. Other Professional and Specialized Institutions This category includes other health science institutions, education schools, engineering schools, divinity institutions, business and management schools, art, music and design schools, law schools, U. S. Service Schools and other specialized schools.

ECONOMIC INDICES

Several economic indices are used in this study. The Higher Education Price Index is used in the analyses of post-secondary costs to control for changes in price. The Consumer Price Index is used in the analyses of tuition rates to control for changes in price. Changes in costs also are compared to the Gross National Product Implicit Price Deflator, and changes in tuition are compared to an index of changes in Minnesota Personal Income.

Definitions

The objective of a price index is to measure changes in prices over time. Indices are constructed in an attempt to eliminate the effects of all other factors on changes in spending. The quality and mix of goods and services are held constant. In measuring changes in prices only, indices measure changes in the purchasing power of a given level of spending.

The Higher Education Price Index (HEPI) measures changes in the prices of a fixed set of goods and services purchased by colleges and universities. The HEPI measures changes in the prices of professional and non-professional personnel compensation, services, supplies, equipment, books and periodicals, and

-B13-

utilities (Research Associates of Washington, 1988a, p. 12). It does not measure changes in the prices of goods and services for sponsored research or auxiliary enterprises.

The HEPI, as do most other indices, has some limitations. The use of a fixed set of goods and services means that changes in the actual mix will make the index less reflective of postsecondary institutions' costs. The HEPI measures price changes for colleges and universities and, consequently, may not be entirely appropriate for examining costs in the Minnesota Technical Institute System. Another criticism is that many colleges and universities have some influence over the prices they pay for personnel compensation and, consequently, some influence over the index. Despite these limitations, the HEPI is the best measure of change in the prices faced by post-secondary institutions.

The Consumer Price Index (CPI) measures change in the prices of a set of consumer goods and services. The type and quantity of goods and services are fixed and were established in 1967 for a typical urban family. The index measures changes in the prices of food, clothing, transportation, fuel, household supplies, health services and materials, recreational goods and events, and shelter. The CPI is used to deflate changes in tuition and required fee rates. Tuition and fee changes are thus viewed in contrast to changes in the prices of other goods and services purchased by consumers.

The Gross National Product (GNP) Implicit Price Deflator measures the average price change from a base year in the total

-B14-

United States output of goods and services (Ohara and Sicignano, p. 73). The Deflator in not a true price index since changes in the components of the Gross National Product are weighted by their proportion of the GNP each year, rather than by a fixed proportion. Hence, changes in the Deflator also reflect changes in the mix of goods and services that make up the GNP. The Deflator is used as a broad measure of inflation in the U. S. economy.

An index of change in Minnesota personal income also will be used. It measures changes in current income received by individuals and certain private funds in Minnesota. It includes income from all sources minus payments for social insurance. It is used in examining changes in tuition and required fee rates.

FOOTNOTES

- Christal, Melodie E., Paul T. Brinkman and Ronald G. Parker, <u>Higher Education Financing in the Fifty State, Interstate</u> <u>Comparisons, Fiscal Year 1984</u>. Boulder, National Center for <u>Higher Education Management Systems, August 1986</u>.
- Christal, Melodie E., James W. Firnberg and Marie S. LaCour, <u>Using</u> <u>HEGIS Data in Interinstitutional Comparisons</u>. A paper presented at the Forum of the Association for Institutional Research, Fort Worth, April 1984.
- Maryland State Board for Higher Education, <u>The Utility of HEGIS</u> <u>Data in Making Institutional Comparisons</u>. Anapolis, August 30, 1988.
- O'Hara, Frederick M., Jr. and Robert Sicignano, <u>Handbook of United</u> <u>States Economic and Financial Indicators</u>, Greenwood Press, Westport and London, 1985.
- Research Associates of Washington, <u>Higher Education Prices and</u> <u>Price Indexes: 1988 Update</u>. Washington D. C., September 1988b.

MINNESOTA PUBLIC INSTITUTIONS IN NCHEMS CLASSIFICATION

Research Universities

University of Minr sota Minneapelis-Saint Paul

Comprehensive Institutions

Bemidji State University Mankato State University Moorhead State University Saint Cloud State University University of Minnesota Duluth Winona State University

General Baccalaureate Institutions

Metropolitan State University Southwest State University University of Minnesota Morris

Two-Year Academic and Comprehensive Institutions

All Minnesota Community Colleges

Two-Year Occupational Institutions

University of Minnesota Crookston University of Minnesota Waseca

Suite 400, Capitol Square Building 550 Cedar Street St. Paul, Minnesota 55101 612-296-3974

HUMAN RIGHTS STATEMENT

"The Minnesota Higher Education Coordinating Board has committed itself to the policy that there shall be no discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, sex, age, handicap or national origin in its programs, activities or employment policies as required by Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and other applicable laws, regulations and Executive Orders.

Inquiries regarding compliance may be directed to Office of Personnel and Affirmative Action, Minnesota Higher Education Coordinating Board, 400 Capitol Square, 550 Cedar Street, St. Paul, MN 55101, (612) 296-3974, or to the Director of the Office of Civil Rights, Department of Health, Education and Welfare, Washington, D.C. 20201."